

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Associations Between Healthcare Utilization Factors and Diabetic Retinopathy Among Adult African Americans

Olusina Adesanya Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Olusina Adesanya

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Shanna Barnett, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Mary Lou Gutierrez, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Jagdish Khubchandani, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Associations Between Healthcare Utilization Factors and Diabetic Retinopathy Among

Adult African Americans

by

Olusina Adesanya

MPH, Walden University, 2015

MBBS, University of Lagos, 1983

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Public Health

Walden University

November 2019

Abstract

African Americans are disproportionately affected by diabetes mellitus (DM) and complications that include diabetic retinopathy and its disease and socioeconomic burdens. This study examined the relationships between diabetic retinopathy and health care utilization factors, such as gender, DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, and health care access, among sampled African Americans with DM in the United States. The Andersen health care utilization model was the framework for the study. In this correlational cross-sectional study, data from the 2011-2016 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey datasets were analyzed. Results of complex samples logistic regression showed that there were no significant associations between diabetic retinopathy and DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, gender, and health care access, after controlling for hemoglobin A1C level, urine albumin-tocreatinine ratio (UACR), marital status, education level, and annual household income. UACR, annual household income, and adult education level were significantly associated with diabetic retinopathy (p < .005). Researchers might use findings from this study for further studies to establish cause-and-effect relationships between diabetic retinopathy and the related health utilization factors in this population. Positive social change might be effected by using results from the study in planning and developing effective public health interventions targeting specific African American populations, which might result in a reduction of the associated physical and socioeconomic burdens on these populations.

Associations Between Health Care Utilization Factors and Diabetic Retinopathy Among

Adult African Americans

by

Olusina Adesanya

MPH, Walden University, 2015

MBBS, University of Lagos, 1983

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Public Health

Walden University

November 2019

Dedication

This study is dedicated to God all mighty for all his guidance and protection. This study is also dedicated to my parents, Pa. Ebenezer Olusanya Adesanya (deceased) and Ma. Dorcas Atoke Adesanya for instilling in my siblings and me the importance of pursuing quality higher education. I dedicate this study to my brother, Dr. Ayo-Oluwa Adesanya, for believing that I possess the ability, capability, capacity, and competence required for achieving this very important milestone in my life. I also thank you for your unprecedented support. My loving daughter, Folasade Olutayo Adesanya. This study is dedicated to you. I thank you for not giving up on me throughout this course, especially during the research period.

Acknowledgments

My sincere gratitude and appreciation go to my research committee chairperson, Dr. Shanna Barnett, and Dr. Mary Lou Gutierrez, my research committee member, for their guidance and uncompromising standards during this research. Through them, the definition of rigorous research was comprehended. To the university research reviewer, Dr. Jagdish Khubchandani, I thank you for your constructive appraisal, which has made me a better scholar. Dr. Jared Yogerst, my Student Success Advisor, I appreciate all your efforts at getting me registered for some Research Forum classes when I was forgotten by Walden University. To Charlette Martha Charles, my lifelong partner, your unwavering loving support provided the much-needed energy during a critical part of this research. I appreciate you more. Amanda Mitchel, I appreciate all your efforts that kept me focused during the study period.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents i
List of Figuresv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review1
Introduction1
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study7
Research Questions and Hypotheses
Framework for the Study9
Nature of the Study10
Literature Search Strategies10
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts11
Diabetic Retinopathy14
Gender17
Comorbidities
Health Care Access
Studies Related to the Research Questions
Definitions
Assumptions
Scope and Delimitations
Significance
Summary

Conclusions	36
Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection	37
Introduction	37
Research Design and Rationale	38
Methodology	40
Population	40
Sampling in NHANES	40
Data Collection and Utilization Procedures for the Current Study	42
Study Sample Size: Power Analysis	43
Instrument and Operationalization of Variables	43
Data Analysis	47
Research Questions and Hypothesis	51
Statistical Tests and Interpretation of Results	52
Threats to Validity	54
Ethical Procedures	56
Summary	57
Section 3: Presentation of the Results and Findings	58
Introduction	58
Data Collection Method of 2011-2016 NHANES Data	58
Results	60
Descriptive Statistics of Demographic and Baseline Study Variables	60
Inferential Statistics	64

Research Question 1
Research Question 2 68
Research Question 371
Summary74
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social
Change75
Introduction75
Interpretation of the Findings75
Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy75
Research Question 177
Research Question 278
Research Question 3
Associations Between Albuminuria, Annual Household Income,
Education Level, and Diabetic Retinopathy in African Americans
Limitations of the Study
Recommendations
Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change
Conclusion
References

List of Tables

Table 1. Operationalization of Study Variables
Table 2. Descriptive Analysis Plan for Dependent and Independent Variables, and
Covariates51
Table 3. Plan for Statistical Analysis
Table 4. Unweighted and Weighted Baseline Descriptive Statistics and Demographic
Characteristics of the Sample62
Table 5. Unweighted and Weighted Frequencies and Percentages for the Dependent and
Categorical Variables for the Study63
Table 6. Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Pertinent Baseline and Independent Study
Variables64
Table 7. Variance Inflation Factor and Tolerance Values for Independent Variables and
Covariates65
Table 8. Complex Samples Logistic Regression for Gender Predicting Association with
Diabetic Retinopathy68
Table 9. Complex Samples Logistic Regression for DM Comorbidity Predicting
Association with Diabetic Retinopathy71
Table 10. Complex Samples Logistic Regression for Health Care Access Predicting
Association with Diabetic Retinopathy74

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Conceptual	framework for	· associations	between	comorbidities,	gender, and	
d	iabetic retinc	pathy among a	adult African	America	ns with DM		.14

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a disorder of metabolism characterized by chronic hyperglycemia due to defective insulin action, secretion, or both (American Diabetes Association [ADA], 2018; Chawla, Chawla, & Jaggi, 2016; World Health Organization [WHO], 2018). DM is commonly classified as Type 1 (T1DM) and Type 2 (T2DM) based on age and insulin requirements, with T1DM patients requiring insulin for sugar control and T2DM patients usually managed with lifestyle modification and oral medications, though parenteral insulin administration may be required for some cases (ADA, 2018; Punthakee, Goldenberg, & Katz, 2018; Shields et al., 2015; Skyler et al., 2017; Yan, Li, Qin, Mayberry, & Daniels, 2018). T1DM results from defective insulin secretion, whereas T2DM, the most prevalent type of DM globally, is usually seen in adults and occurs due to insulin resistance or decreased insulin secretion (ADA, 2018; WHO, 2018). A common clinical feature of DM, irrespective of its type, is chronic hyperglycemia that results from defective insulin secretion, insulin resistance, or both, which leads to continuous hyperglycemia and increasing insufficiency of insulin with time (ADA, 2018; Chawla et al., 2016; Okur, Karantas, & Siafaka, 2017; Punthakee et al., 2018; Shields et al., 2015; Skyler et al., 2017; Zaccardi, Webb, Yates, & Davies, 2016). Etiologic factors for DM pathophysiology (defective insulin secretion, insulin resistance or both, with resultant hyperglycemia) include genetics, age, race and ethnicity, gender, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, unhealthy diet, sedentary lifestyle, overweight and obesity, smoking, alcohol use, and socioeconomic status (ADA, 2018;

Baynes, 2015; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2017; Skyler et al., 2017).

Uncontrolled DM, irrespective of its type, can lead to macrovascular (large vessel) disease affecting the heart and arteries, and microvascular (small vessel) disease affecting the eyes, kidneys and nerves (Beckman & Creager, 2016; Chawla et al., 2016; Ozawa, Bearse, & Adams, 2015; Solomon et al., 2017; WHO, 2018). DM is associated with concordant comorbidities, such as hypertension and hyperlipidemia, that are major intermediate factors in the development of macro- and microvascular diseases (Abdulghani, et al., 2018; Atchison & Barkmeier, 2016; Beckman & Creager, 2016; Cheng et al., 2014; Klimek, Kautzky-Willer, Chmiel, Schiller-Frühwirth, & Thurner, 2015; Lin, Kent, Winn, Cohen, & Neumann, 2015; Magnan et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2016; Pantalone et al., 2015; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Rosiek et al., 2016; Solomon et al., 2017; Wat, Wong, & Wong, 2016; Zhuo et al., 2014).

DM is currently diagnosed in about 23.1 million adults in the United States; 90% to 95% of adults living with diabetes have Type 2 DM (CDC, 2017b). Adult African Americans are disproportionately affected by DM, with a total percentage of 13.4% compared to 7.4% among Whites (ADA, 2018; CDC, 2017b). There was an increase in the prevalence of coexisting diabetes, hypertension, and hypercholesterolemia among U.S. adults from 3% in 1999–2000 to 6.3% in 2011–2012; higher among African Americans (10.2%), compared to Mexican Americans (6.1%), other Hispanics (6.6%), Whites (5.6%), and 7.3% among other racial and ethnic groups (Song et al., 2016). DM concordant comorbidities, such as hypertension and hyperlipidemia, are major

intermediate factors underlying cardiovascular disease such as diabetic retinopathy disparities of African-American populations (Beckman & Creager, 2016; Lin et al., 2015; Magnan et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2016; Pantalone et al., 2015; Rosiek et al., 2016; WHO, 2018; Zhuo et al., 2014). Chronic complications of diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension are associated with increased physical, mental, and socioeconomic burdens on populations, especially African Americans, who are disproportionately affected (Lang, & Marković, 2016; Lin et al., 2015).

Diabetic retinopathy occurs when chronic high levels of blood glucose cause damage to blood vessels in the retina, which can lead to (a) swelling and leaking, or (b) closure of the retinal blood vessels that can prevent passage of blood through the blocked vessels, and (c) new blood vessel formation in the retina (American Academy of Ophthalmology, 2018b). It is separated into two main stages that include nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy in the early stage, which may be symptomless, and proliferative diabetic retinopathy in the late and more advanced stage that may be visionthreatening (American Academy of Ophthalmology, 2018b). Diabetic retinopathy is a significant cause of preventable eye damage that includes blindness; each year, between 12,000 and 24,000 new cases of blindness are caused by diabetes retinopathy (Skaggs et al., 2017).

Between 2005 and 2008, the prevalence of non-vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy and that of vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy among adults 40 years and older in the United States was 28.5 % and 4.4%, respectively (Zhang et al., 2010). African American populations are disproportionately affected by diabetic retinopathy with a higher crude prevalence of 38.8% compared to 26.4% among Whites, and a higher vision-threatening retinopathy crude prevalence of 9.3% compared to 3.2% among Whites (CDC, 2017a; Zhang et al., 2010). Duration of diabetes, uncontrolled hyperglycemia, and hypertension are common important risk factors for the progression of diabetic retinopathy to vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy or loss of vision; glycemic and blood pressure control are effective in preventing diabetic retinopathy-related loss of vision (Chen et al., 2014; Chew et al., 2010; Do et al., 2015; Lee, Wong, & Sabanayagam, 2015; Lima, Cavalieri, Lima, Nazario, & Lima, 2016; Mendanha, Abrahão, Vilar, & Nassaralla, 2016; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Ting, Cheung, & Wong, 2016; Wat et al., 2016). Longer duration of diabetes, uncontrolled hyperglycemia, hypertension, and dyslipidemia are associated with diabetic retinopathy in African Americans (Papavasileiou et al., 2017; Penman et al., 2016).

Diabetic retinopathy, including its vision-threatening type, is preventable by strict blood sugar control, control of concordant comorbid conditions (hypertension and hyperlipidemia), early detection through regular eye-screening of patients with DM, and prompt management of diabetic retinopathy (ADA, 2018; Chew et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Rosiek et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2015). However, achieving tight control of blood sugar, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia; early detection through regular eye-screening of patients with DM; and prompt management of diabetic retinopathy depend on health care access (ADA, 2018; Chew et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Rosiek et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2015). Strict glycemic control and control of concordant comorbidities depend on selfmanagement skills and activities such as medication adherence, self-monitoring of blood glucose, healthy eating, and regular physical activity that are gained through diabetes self-management education (ADA, 2018; Brunisholz et al., 2014; Chew et al., 2014; Dirani, Crowston, & vanWijngaarden, 2014; Do et al., 2015; Rosiek et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2015). Although adult African Americans are disproportionately affected by DM and diabetic retinopathy, adequate management of the disease—including early detection of diabetic retinopathy—may be elusive to this population due to racial and ethnic disparities in health care access in the United States (Hu, Shi, Liang, Haile, & Lee, 2016; Laiteerapong et al., 2015). There is a need to understand the association between some of the factors affecting health care utilization and diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans with DM.

This research examined the association between health utilization factors of gender (predisposing), concordant comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia (need), health access (enabling), and diabetic retinopathy among sampled adult African Americans with DM in the United States. I analyzed data from a nationally representative dataset, the 2011-2016 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) dataset (National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), 2017a). Participants were adult African Americans with self-reported diabetes. I utilized the Andersen model of health services use, which purports that predisposing, enabling, and need factors influence individuals' health care utilization (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973). I used the model in examining the relationships between diabetic retinopathy in African Americans and the demographic predisposing factor of gender; need factors of DM, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia, and enabling factors that facilitate health care access

such as health insurance, availability of preventive, diagnostic services including eye screening services, and treatment services for DM and its comorbidities; availability of doctors and diabetes specialists; and geographic accessibility (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973). There is a paucity of research on the associations between (a) a predisposing demographic factor of gender, (b) need factors such as DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, and (c) enabling factors of health care access, which are all determinants of health care utilization and diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans with DM in the United States. I conducted this research to identify health utilization factors associated with diabetic retinopathy that disproportionately affects adult African Americans with its sight-related functional and socioeconomic burdens. Through this research, a gap will be filled in literature with the understanding of the factors mentioned above responsible for diabetic retinopathy disparities in African-American populations.

This section includes (in the following order) the problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions and answers, theoretical foundation of the study, nature of the study, literature search strategies, literature review related to key variables and research questions, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, significance, summary, and conclusions.

Problem Statement

In the United States, African American populations are disproportionately affected by diabetic retinopathy, which is related to the duration of diabetes, uncontrolled hyperglycemia, and hypertension (Beckman & Creager, 2016; Lin et al., 2015; Magnan et

al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2016; Pantalone et al., 2015; Rosiek et al., 2016; Zhuo et al., 2014). Diabetic retinopathy can be prevented through strict control of blood sugar, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia, early detection of diabetic retinopathy through regular eye-screening of patients with DM, and prompt management of diabetic retinopathy, which depends on health care utilization that may be elusive to adult African Americans with DM (Atchison & Barkmeier, 2016; Chen et al., 2014; Chew et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Hu et al., 206; Laiteerapong et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Lima et al., 2016; Mendanha et al., 2016; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Ting et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016). There is a dearth of research on the association between (a) predisposing demographic factor of gender; (b) need factors such as DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia; and (c) enabling factors of health care access that are determinants of health care utilization and diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans in the United States. This research was informed by the Andersen model of health services use. This study helps fill the gap in the literature regarding the factors responsible for diabetic retinopathy disparities in African American populations.

Purpose of the Study

This was a quantitative research study, aimed at investigating the relationships between health utilization factors such as DM comorbidities, gender, health care access, and diabetic retinopathy among African Americans. I examined the relationship between the independent variables of (a) gender, (b) comorbidities of DM (e.g., hypertension hyperlipidemia), and (c) facilitators of health care access (e.g., current health insurance, primary care provider, diabetes specialists, and eye screening service) and the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy. Covariates included education level, gender, and marital status (predisposing factors), annual household income (health care access), and urinary albumin-creatinine ratio (UACR) and HBA1C (need factors). For this study, I analyzed data from a nationally representative dataset, the 2011-2016 NHANES dataset.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1: Is there an association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States?

*H*o1: There is no association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States

 H_1 1: There is an association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States.

Research Question 2: Is there an association between DM-related comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States?

*H*o2: There is no association between DM-related comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States.

 H_12 : There is an association between DM-related comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States.

Research Question 3: Is there an association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States?

*H*o3: There is no association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans with DM in the United States.

 H_1 3: There is an association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans with DM in the United States.

Framework for the Study

As a framework for this study, I used the Andersen model of health services use, which purports that predisposing, enabling, and need factors influence individuals' health care utilization (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973). Predisposing factors are sociodemographic characteristics, such as age, gender, race/ethnicity, education, employment, and marital status; need factors are motivators of health care use, including perceived need by individuals and assessed health status, which includes chronic health; enabling factors are those factors that facilitate the use of health care services by individuals, such as household income, availability of health care insurance, having a regular doctor, availability of needed services, and distance to the health care facility (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973). The model is adaptable, and researchers have widely used it to examine factors that lead to health services utilization in various settings (Andrej et al., 2016; Brzoska et al., 2017; Hirshfield et al., 2018; Li et al., 2016; Luo et al., 2018; McClure et al., 2016; Petrovic & Blank, 2015; Tesfaye et al., 2018) The model is suitable in examining the relationship between the (a) demographic predisposing factor of gender; (b) enabling factors that facilitate health care access, including health insurance, availability of preventive and diagnostic services (e.g., eye screening services), treatment services for DM and comorbidity of hypertension and hyperlipidemia,

availability of doctors and diabetes specialists, and geographic accessibility; and (c) need factors that include hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy, which is an indirect measure of health care utilization in adult African Americans (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973).

Nature of the Study

This research was a quantitative, nonexperimental, correlational cross-sectional study aimed at exploring the relationships between independent variables (i.e., gender, comorbidities of DM and hypertension, and health care access) and the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy among a large sample of adult African Americans in the United States from 2015 to 2016. Covariates included education level, age group, marital status, albuminuria, HBA1C level, and income level. Data analyzed in this study were from a nationally representative dataset, the 2015-2016 NHANES dataset (CDC, 2017a).

Literature Search Strategies

In conducting the literature review, I used academic search engines and databases, including the Walden University Library search catalog, PubMed, Medline, ProQuest, Google Scholar, SAGE Journals, ScienceDirect, Thoreau Multi-Database Search, CINAHL & MEDLINE combined Search, and Cochrane. Criteria for inclusion in the literature review were primary peer-reviewed research articles on diabetic retinopathy, risk factors for developing diabetic retinopathy generally and among African Americans, diabetes comorbidities and diabetic retinopathy, eye care service utilization among adult African Americans with diabetes, and access to health care in African Americans. Keyword search emphasized locating articles on *Andersen model of health services use*,

and studies informed by the Andersen model of health services use. To find literature on adult African Americans with diabetes and retinopathy search terms included comorbidities and retinopathy, perceptions of adult African Americans on diseases, sociodemographic influence on diabetic retinopathy, access to health care in African-Americans, access to health care in African Americans with DM, access to health care in African Americans with DM and retinopathy, eye screening service use among adult diabetics, and screening service utilization among adult African Americans with diabetes. The selected articles were written in English, peer reviewed, and not older than 2014 except seminal articles on the Andersen model of health services use, which is the theoretical framework for this research, and articles that filled gaps in the literature. In addition to the academic search engines, grey literature sources such as non-peerreviewed government and nonprofit publications including the CDC and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality websites were searched for data; the U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services websites were searched for dietary practice guidelines; the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services/Office for Human Research Protections website was also searched for information on basic health and human services policy on protection of human research participants; and the ADA and American Academy of Ophthalmologists websites were searched for practice guidelines and definitions.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts

From the literature search, I selected 56 articles that met the inclusion criteria. Among these articles were critical reviews of the literature related to DM comorbidities and diabetic retinopathy, sociodemographic risk factors for diabetic retinopathy, and factors that determine health care access among African Americans. The study design for many of the selected articles was cross-sectional; other study designs used included longitudinal, prospective, retrospective, randomized clinical trial, case study, quasiexperimental, mixed methods, pre-post, surveys, and systematic reviews. The literature review is presented according to the framework for this study and key variables of diabetic retinopathy, gender, DM comorbidities associated with diabetic retinopathy, health care access, and research questions.

Constructs of the Andersen model of health services use suggest that predisposing, enabling, and need factors influence individuals' health care utilization (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973). Predisposing factors are sociodemographic such as age, gender, race/ethnicity, education, employment, household income, and marital status; need factors are motivators of health care use that include perceived need by individuals, assessed health status that includes chronic health such as DM, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, albuminuria, and HBAIC; and enabling factors that facilitate the use of health care services by individuals such as availability of health care insurance or ability for out-of-pocket-payment, having a regular doctor, availability of needed services, and distance to the health care facility (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973). The model was developed by Andersen in 1968 but has evolved (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973). It has been widely utilized in examining the factors that lead to health services utilization in various settings (Andrej, Rok, & Prevolnik, 2016; Brzoska, Erdsiek, & Waury, 2017; Hirshfield et al., 2018; Li et al., 2016; Luo et al., 2018; McClure et al., 2016; Petrovic & Blank, 2015; Tesfaye et al., 2018). For example, Hirshfield et al. (2018) used this model as a framework for a crosssectional study to examine risk factors for developing hypertension among a sample of 7,454 men with male sexual partners in the United States. According to Hirshfield et al., even though about a third of U.S. men are living with hypertension, the diagnosis and management of which depend on health care utilization, there is a dearth of studies on hypertension among men who have sex with men. The following factors were identified: predisposing factors of race, age, education, relationship status; need factors such as perception of being overweight, living with DM, heart disease, stroke, anxiety or depression; and enabling factors of having a regular doctor, current income, current health insurance, residence in South Atlantic or South Central; self-report of hypertension was used as a proxy measure of health care utilization (Hirshfield et al., 2018).

In this research, the Andersen model of health services use is suitable for examining the associations between the main independent variables and covariates of sociodemographic predisposing factors, need factors, enabling factors, and the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy that is an indirect measure of health care utilization (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973).



Figure 1. Conceptual framework for associations between DM comorbidities, gender, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans with DM.

Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetic retinopathy is a common DM complication (Lin et al., 2015; Magnan et al., 2015; Pantalone et al., 2015; Rosiek et al., 2016). Diabetic retinopathy occurs when chronic high levels of blood glucose cause damage to blood vessels in the retina, which can lead to (a) swelling and leaking, or (b) closure of the retinal blood vessels that can prevent passage of blood through the blocked vessels, and (c) new blood vessel formation in the retina (American Academy of Ophthalmology, 2018b). Diabetic retinopathy is separated into two main stages that include the early stage, nonproliferative diabetic

retinopathy, which affects many individuals with diabetes and may be symptomless, and proliferative diabetic retinopathy in the late and more advanced stage, which may be vision-threatening (American Academy of Ophthalmology, 2018b).

In the United States, diabetic retinopathy is the most common microvascular complication of diabetes and is the primary cause of new cases of blindness among adults living with diabetes between ages of 20 and 74 years (Jani et al., 2017). Results of a cross-sectional study (analysis of data from NHANES 2011 - 2014 cycles) conducted by Shah (2016) suggested that the prevalence of diabetic retinopathy among U.S. adults, 40 years old and over, was 14.7% (95% confidence interval [CI], 11.7–17.8%); prevalence among males was 16.1% (95% CI, 13.0-19.1%), and among females was 13.4% (95% CI, 9.2–17.5%). In a cross-sectional study from the analysis of NHANES 2005-2008 data, Zhang et al. (2010) demonstrated diabetic retinopathy prevalence of 28.5% (95% CI, 24.9–32.5%) and vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy prevalence of 4.4% (95% CI, 3.5–5.7%), which was higher among adult African Americans compared to Whites (38.8% versus 26.4%, p = .01), and slightly higher among males than females (31.6% s)versus 25.7%, p = .04); independent risk factors were male gender, longer duration of diabetes, insulin use, higher HBA1C level, and higher systolic blood pressure. Duration of diabetes, uncontrolled hyperglycemia, and hypertension are common important risk factors for the progression of diabetic retinopathy to the vision-threatening type or loss of vision (Atchison & Barkmeier, 2016; Chen et al., 2014; Chew et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Lima et al., 2016; Mendanha et al., 2016; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Ting et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016). Longer duration of diabetes, uncontrolled

hyperglycemia, hypertension, and dyslipidemia are associated with diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans (Papavasileiou et al., 2017; Penman et al., 2016).

Diabetic retinopathy is a leading cause of preventable eye damage, which includes blindness; each year 12,000–24,000 new cases of blindness are caused by diabetic retinopathy (Skaggs et al., 2017). Diabetic macular edema is a significant cause of sight loss in 1038 individuals living with DM (Varma et al., 2014). Results of a cross-sectional study (data from NHANES 2005-2006 and 2007-2008 cycles were analyzed) by Varma et al. (2014) suggested that African Americans with diabetes have a higher likelihood of developing diabetic macular edema. Longer duration of diabetes and elevated levels of HBAIC were associated with its prevalence. As a significant cause of socioeconomic burden in the United States, results of a cross-sectional study by Willis et al. (2017) on 1004 adults living with diabetes in the United States showed a significant relationship between sight-related functional burden and types of diabetic retinopathy with high severity.

There is a need for preventive measures against diabetic retinopathy of high severity to minimize sight-related functional burden among adults living with diabetes in the United States because there is a higher likeliness of not being involved in any gainful employment due to decreased vision (Sherrod et al., 2014; Willis et al., 2017). Understanding the factors that determine the utilization of treatment and preventive DM services by adult African Americans with diabetes will be useful for developing appropriate services. As such, research on the relationships between health care utilization factors and diabetic retinopathy in this population was necessary.

Gender

In the United States, there is no significant gender-related difference in the prevalence of diagnosed DM among adults (CDC, 2017). Systematic reviews by Ozawa et al. (2015) and Wat et al. (2016) did not demonstrate a strong association between gender and retinopathy. However, the results of Zhang et al.'s (2010) cross-sectional study in the United States showed that male gender is an independent risk factor for diabetic retinopathy. Similar results were obtained from a cross-sectional study among adult Saudi diabetic patients by Abdulghani et al. (2018), which showed an association between male gender and diabetic retinopathy. Although there was no statistically significant difference in diabetic retinopathy incidence in the Los Angeles Latino eye study, males had a 50% higher risk of having any diabetic retinopathy (OR = 1.50; p =.006) compared with women as demonstrated by their stepwise multivariate model (Varma et al., 2007). Similar results were demonstrated by the United Kingdom prospective diabetes 50 study; there was no difference in diabetic retinopathy rates between male and female sexes (p = 0.67), but there was a lower risk ratio of diabetic retinopathy progression in women as shown by a multivariate model (Strutton et al., 2001).

Review of literature on the relationship between gender and diabetic retinopathy showed that the association between gender and development of diabetic retinopathy has not been established. Even though the results of Zhang et al.'s (2010) study on a representative sample of the United States population suggested that male gender is an independent risk factor for diabetic retinopathy, the prevalence was higher among Whites 59.7 %; 95% *Cl*, 49.5%–69.1%) compared to African Americans (24.0%; 95% *Cl*, 18.2%–30.8%; p = .008). The cross-sectional design of this study will affect the generalizability of the result beyond the study population. The study by Penman et al. (2015) was on adult African Americans with diabetes, but only the results for female participants was reported and was statistically insignificant (60.3%; p = .27); moreover, small sample size and purposive sampling design utilized will affect the generalizability of the results beyond the study population. There was a need to carry out a study on the association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African American population on a large sample that is representative of this population.

Comorbidities

DM is associated with concordant comorbidities such as hypertension and hyperlipidemia that are major risk factors in the development of macro and microvascular diseases (Abdulghani, et al., 2018; Atchison & Barkmeier, 2016; Beckman & Creager, 2016; Cheng et al., 2014; Klimek et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2015; Magnan et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2016; Pantalone et al., 2015; Raum et al., 2015; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Rosiek et al., 2016; Solomon et al., 2017; Song et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016; Walraven et al., 2015; Zhuo et al., 2014). Cardio-metabolite risk factors for diabetic retinopathy include hypertension, hypertriglyceridemia, hypocholesterolemia (HDL), and abdominal obesity (Cheng et al., 2014). According to the results of a study by Cheng et al. (2014) in China, diabetic retinopathy prevalence when associated with one, two, three, and four of the cardio-metabolites was 16.0%, 17.6%, 21.3%, and 25.1%, (p = .001) respectively. However, results of a prospective cohort study on 759 adult diabetic patients (25-75 years) without diabetic retinopathy in Korea (followed up for 11 to 12 years), suggested that glycemic control, age, and albuminuria were significant risk factors for the development of diabetic retinopathy (Yun et al., 2016).

DM concordant comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia are major intermediate factors underlying cardiovascular disease such as diabetic retinopathy disparities of African American populations (Beckman & Creager, 2016; Lin et al., 2015; Magnan et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2016; Pantalone et al., 2015; Rosiek et al., 2016; Zhuo et al., 2014). Results of a cross-sectional study (analysis of NHANES data from 1999 to 2012) by Song et al. (2016), showed an increase in the prevalence of coexisting diabetes, hypertension and hypercholesterolemia among United States adults from 3% in 1999–2000 to 6.3% in 2011–2012 (p < .001). According to Song et al. concordant comorbidities of DM, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia in 2012 was higher among African Americans (10.2%, p < .001), compared to Mexican Americans (6.1%, p =.020), other Hispanics (6.6%, p = .220), Whites (5.6%, p < .001), and other racial and ethnic groups (7.3%, p = .450). A study was carried out by Penman et al. (2015) to examine individual and demographic risk factors for proliferative diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans with T2DM. African Americans with Type 2 diabetes (n = 358) were recruited from four sites in Mississippi and Massachusetts (Penman et al.). The results demonstrated that longer duration of diabetes (OR, 1.62, p < .001), systolic hypertension (OR 1.65, p < .001), and insulin treatment (OR 6.65, p < .001) were strong risk factors for the development of proliferative diabetic retinopathy (Penman et al.). Although HBA1C was statistically significant in the univariate analysis (OR 1.3, p =

.002), it was not significant in multivariate analysis (OR 1.04, p = 0.68) (Penman et al). Total cholesterol (p = 0.42), triglyceride (p = 0.49); LDL cholesterol (p = 0.39); and HDL cholesterol (p = 0.52), were not statistically significant (Penman et al.).

Hypertension and hyperlipidemia are modifiable diabetes concordant comorbidities. Several studies have demonstrated that hypertension and hyperlipidemia have positive associations with the development of diabetic retinopathy (Abdulghani, et al., 2018; Beckman & Creager, 2016; Cheng et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Klimek, Kautzky-Willer, Chmiel, Schiller-Frühwirth, & Thurner, 2015; Lin et al., 2015; Magnan et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2016; Pantalone et al., 2015; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Rosiek et al., 2016; Solomon et al., 2017; Song et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016; Zhuo et al., 2014). A meta-analysis by Wang et al. (2015) found a decreased risk of retinopathy of about 7 %, decreased risk of progression of diabetic retinopathy of about 5%, and an increased probability of diabetic retinopathy regression in diabetics on renin-angiotensin system inhibitor. There was a statistically significant decreased risk of diabetic retinopathy progression (0.84, p = .002), and an increased probability of diabetic retinopathy regression (1.50, p=.003) in diabetics on treatment with angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors; however, there was only an association between the use of angiotensin receptor blockers and decreased diabetic retinopathy progression (1.32, p=.008) (Wang et al.). However, the result of a Cochrane review by Do et al. (2015) showed hypertension treatment can prevent diabetic retinopathy but does not slow its progression. Results of a Danish study showed that use of statins before diagnosis of DM was associated with diabetic retinopathy development; its use was also linked to

improvement in visual acuity in those with diagnosed diabetic retinopathy (Nielsen & Nordestgaard, 2014).

Researchers have identified comorbidities associated with diabetic retinopathy and the advanced types of proliferative retinopathy and macular edema. Most of the studies were on mixed populations with minimal representation of African Americans, purposive sampling and cross-sectional study designs were mostly used, which will affect the generalizability of the study results beyond the study populations. There was a need to identify comorbidities associated with diabetic retinopathy on a large representative sample of adult African Americans.

Health Care Access

Health care access is the ability to gain entry into or utilize personal health care service for achieving optimum outcomes in health (HealthyPeople.gov., 2018). Three steps involved in achieving health care access include (a) getting into the health care system that is commonly through medical insurance coverage, (b) geographic accessibility of required health care services, and (c) identifying a trustworthy health care provider that can be easily communicated with (HealthyPeople.gov., 2018). Prevention of diabetic retinopathy and its progression to its vision-threatening type depend on health care access (Atchison & Barkmeier, 2016; Chen et al., 2014; Chew et al., 2014; 2016; Do et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Lima et al., 2016; Mendanha et al., Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Ting et al; Wat et al., 2016).

Obtaining recommended diabetes preventive services is dependent on the status of medical insurance (Bailey et al., 2016). Bailey et al. (2016) carried out a retrospective

cohort research to determine any relationship between disparities in diabetes prevention services obtained and status of medical insurance during health care facility visit. Medicaid and electronic health record data of study participants from 38 community health centers in Oregon from 200-2007 were analyzed (Bailey et al.). Study participants were categorized as patients that were insured throughout the study period (continuously insured), uninsured throughout the study period (continuously uninsured), and those without insurance for part of the study period (discontinuously insured). There were 1,466 patients that were insured continuously; 1,117 uninsured continuously; and 336 insured discontinuously (Bailey et al.). Results suggested that patients without continuous insurance had lower odds of obtaining diabetes prevention services during scheduled visits compared to patients with continuous insurance (odds ratio = 0.73, 95% CI = (0.66); and among the patients without insurance for part of the study period, probability of not obtaining diabetes preventive services due for the scheduled visit was associated with not being insured at that particular clinic visit (odds ratio =0.77, 95% CI = 0.64) compared to when insured at the particular clinic visit (Bailey et al.).

Early detection of diabetic retinopathy is of extreme importance in preventing loss of vision, and timely medical and surgical treatments have dramatically reduced diabetic retinopathy progression (Jani et al., 2017). The effectiveness of diabetic retinopathy screening programs depends on how patients adhere to the schedule of follow-up eye management as recommended by the diabetic retinopathy screening program (Keenum et al., 2016). Although African Americans are among those at highest risk for diabetic retinopathy, they had one of the lowest rates of diabetic retinopathy screening and scheduled follow-up eye care utilization (Keenum et al., 2016; Maclennan et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2015). Factors that influence screening include lack of health care access that is influenced by health insurance coverage, transportation, and accessibility to an eye specialist, late or non-referrals from primary care physicians, inadequate communication between primary care physicians and eye specialists, misinformation about diabetic retinopathy screening, miscommunication about patients' addresses, patients' detachment from diabetes care, and lack of diabetes-management education in those living with diabetes (Al-Alawi et al., 2016; Chou et al., 2014; Hipwell et al., 2014; Jani et al., 2017; Kashim et al., 2018; Lindenmeyer et al., 2015; MacLennan et al., 2014; Piyasena et al., 2019; Spears et al., 2018; Strutton et al., 2016).

In a prospective follow-up study, Keenum et al. (2016) examined the rate of adherence to recommended follow-up eye care in a diabetic retinopathy screening program administered in a health care facility that provides access to care irrespective of the patients' affordability. Study participants were individuals with Type 1 diabetes or T2DM receiving care in an internal medicine clinic of a health system with retinopathy screening program in Alabama that is publicly funded, which serves a predominantly uninsured African American population (Keenum et al.). Results suggested that after the diabetic retinopathy screening, only a third of study participants adhered to scheduled intervals for follow-up eye care despite minimizing accessibility and costs as barriers to eye care (Keenum et al.). Keenum et al. suggested incorporating eye education strategies to promote adherence to recommended eye care that can prevent loss of vision from diabetic retinopathy. Telemedicine is an emerging strategy for improving evaluation for diabetic retinopathy through retinal imaging in the primary care setting with remote interpretation by an expert (Jani et al., 2017; Mansberger et al., 2015). In the United States, diabetic retinopathy was identified in 1 out of 5 individuals living with diabetes through a diabetic retinopathy telemedicine screening offered in urban clinical or pharmacy environments largely that were mostly utilized by racial and ethnic minorities (Owsley et al., 2015). A pre- and post-implementation evaluation by Jani et al. (2017) at five primary care clinics providing health care services to underserved populations in North Carolina showed that rate of diabetic retinopathy evaluation is increased by retinal telemedicine screening for diabetic retinopathy in patients in underserved populations; access to care for minorities and patients with diabetic retinopathy requiring treatment in the primary care setting might also be increased. With early identification of patients at risk of loss of vision, retinal telemedicine programs can lead to decreased health care costs and reduce the socioeconomic burden of vision-threatening visual loss on the society (Jani et al.).

Although health care access plays a vital role in diabetic retinopathy screening, the quality of services offered may not be equal in all health care institutions due to disparities in preventive care that are usually provided in primary care encounters. Even though primary care encounters usually provide opportunities for preventive health care such as diabetes self-management education (DSME), there are considerable race and ethnic disparities in preventive care that are usually provided in primary care encounters; access to quality health care as offered in primary care centers is limited to many African Americans with diabetes, they rely on government-subsidized and less-resourced
community health centers located in their residential areas for medical care (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2017; Fiscella, K. & Sanders, 2016). Racial and ethnic disparities exist in quality of care provided for control of chronic noncommunicable diseases such as hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes that are risk factors for diabetic retinopathy, with African Americans and other minority patients having suboptimal control for blood sugar, blood cholesterol, and blood pressure with resultant complications that include diabetic retinopathy (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2017; Laiteerapong et al., 2015; Yoon et al., 2015). Abramson, Hashemi, and Sánchez-Jankowski (2015) carried out a cross-sectional study that employed a multi-level approach to examine perceptions of United States racial health care discrimination and micro and macro-level factors that influence behaviors, health experiences, and outcomes among and between racial groups. Data on 43,020 adults between 18 and 85 years from California's major racial and ethnic groups obtained from the California Health Interview Survey 2005 were analyzed (Abramson et al.). Results showed that racial minorities, especially African-Americans reported more racial health care discrimination; increased perceptions of discrimination were associated with poor communication with health care provider across all racial and ethnic groups; and perceptions of discrimination were associated with an increased level of education in all racial and ethnic groups except Whites (Abramson et al.).

Laiteerapong et al. (2015) carried out a cross-sectional study to determine disparities in diabetes care. The study sample was a nationally representative sample of Hispanics, African Americans, and Whites, aged 20 years or over, with self-reported diabetes in the NHANES, 2007–2010. There were individualized glycemic goals that were assigned based on duration, age, duration, comorbidity, and complications; and, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol goals assigned based on the history of cardiovascular disease (Laiteerapong et al.). The results showed that more Whites achieved HBA1_C < 8% goal than African Americans (81% versus 74%, p < .001); fewer African Americans were recommended individualized LDL goals compared to Whites (10% versus 33%, p <.003 ; more Whites (51%) achieved individualized LDL control; and adequate blood pressure control goal of less than 140/90 mmHg was reached by fewer African Americans compared to Whites (53% versus 69%, p < .001).

A cross-sectional study was carried out by Assari et al. (2017) on 163 African Americans with T2DM in outpatient clinic of a large Midwestern urban health care system to examine dissimilarities in levels of racial health care discrimination perceptions and the relationship between the perceived discrimination and blood sugar control. Results demonstrated that racial health care discrimination is reported more by African American men with T2DM than women with T2DM; perceived discrimination is associated higher levels of HBA1C in African American men (Assari et al.). Assari et al. suggested that consideration should be given to gender by clinicians and academics when the effects of racial health care discrimination on health outcomes are being examined.

Several factors may influence racial disparities in diabetes management services. Hu et al. (2016) carried out a cross-sectional study to determine the factors that may influence racial disparities in primary care access and quality in those with diabetes by a secondary data analysis on 2,617 adults with self-reported T2D derived from the household part of the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey of 2012. The results showed that although there were initial racial and ethnic disparities in the access to primary care and quality, socioeconomic status is a stronger determinant of access to primary care and quality and outcomes in those with T2DM than race and ethnicity (Hu et al.). According to the authors, the policy implication of the result is that policymakers should ensure equitable health care access and quality to all by focusing on the health care needs of the underprivileged and underserved populations such as those with lower socioeconomic status (Hu et al.). In Canada, Bird, Lemstra, Rogers, and Moraros (2015) from a crosssectional study found that household income has a strong and independent association with the prevalence of T2DM and some concordant comorbidities and physical inactivity. Relationship between disparities in diabetes prevention services obtained and status of medical insurance during health care facility visit was suggested by results of a retrospective cohort research by Bailey et al. (2016); however, the internal and external validity of the results are compromised by the purposive sampling method used and a predominantly Hispanic population.

According to results of the study by Ascari et al, (2017), discrimination is reported more by African American men with T2DM than women with T2DM and perceived discrimination is associated higher levels of HBA1C in African American men; however internal and external validity of the results are affected by the cross-sectional study design and purposive sampling method. Results of studies by Bird et al. (2015) and Hu et al. (2016) highlighted the intrapersonal and community-level factors that influence health care access and quality in T2DM patients. Results of the study by Hu et al. (2016) showed that socioeconomic status is a stronger determinant of access to primary care and quality and outcomes in those with T2DM than race and ethnicity; however, self-report of DM and primary care experience without measuring health outcomes, use of secondary data source, nonprobability sampling, and cross-sectional study design, and a predominantly White study population will affect both internal and external validity of study findings. Also results of a cross-sectional study by Bird et al. showed that household income has a strong and independent association with the prevalence of T2DM and some concordant comorbidities and physical inactivity; absence of African Americans in the study population affects the generalizability of the results beyond the study population. Research findings from studies carried out by Chow et al. (2016) and Young et al. (2017) highlighted the importance and quality of health care access; although the study by Young et al. was supposed to be a randomized control trial, not all patients stuck to their assigned groups; also, the purposive sampling method utilized by Chow et al. and lack of information about the racial or ethnic composition of the study population will affect the generalization of the study results.

There are low eye care service utilization rates among adult African Americans with DM, which result in lower screening rates among this population (Maclennan et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2015). Research is scarce specifically on the associations between DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, gender, health care access diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans with diabetes in the United States. There was a need to conduct research specifically on these factors that affect health care utilization among adult African Americans with DM and diabetic retinopathy in the United States.

Studies Related to the Research Questions

In this study, I analyzed the associations between gender, DM related comorbidity of hypertension and hyperglycemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States. Studies reviewed on the association between gender and diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans are indeterminate, which warranted a study to examine this relationship in this population (Research Question 1). Although the literature review showed that concordant comorbidities of DM, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia are risk factors for the development of diabetic retinopathy and its progression to proliferative diabetic retinopathy, the study populations were predominantly not African Americans (Atchison & Barkmeier, 2016; Chen et al., 2014; Chew et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Lima et al 2016; Mendanha et al., 2016; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Ting et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016). The cross-sectional design used for the studies on African Americans and purposive sampling can affect the generalizability of the research findings (Papavasileiou et al., 2017; Penman et al., 2016). There is a need for research on the association between DM comorbidities and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States (research question 2). Literatures reviewed showed that the achievement of metabolic control of hyperglycemia, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia, early detection through regular eyescreening of patients with DM, and prompt management of diabetic retinopathy could prevent the development of early diabetic retinopathy and the progression to the late stages; these diabetes preventive services are dependent on health care utilization that depend on health care access (Atchison & Barkmeier, 2016; Chen et al., 2014; Chew et

al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Lima et al., 2016; Mendanha et al., 2016; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Ting et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016). Three studies showed that although African Americans are among those are disproportionately affected by diabetic retinopathy, they had one of the lowest rates of diabetic retinopathy screening and scheduled follow-up eye care utilization (Keenum et al., 2016; Maclennan et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2015). There was a need to research the factors that affect health care access among adult African Americans with DM (research question 3).

Definitions

Comorbidity: Is when there is concurrent existence of a disease and one or more other diseases in an individual (Pantalone et al., 2015).

DM comorbidity: Can be concordant (similar) or discordant (not similar) according to the management of DM (Magnan et al., 2015).

DM concordant comorbidities: DM, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, large and small arterial diseases (Lin et al., 2015; Magnan et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2016; Pantalone et al., 2015; Rosiek et al., 2016).

Diabetic Retinopathy: An extreme small blood vessel (arteriole) complication of the eyes in both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes; it is strongly related to both the duration of poor blood sugar control in diabetes, and how controlled the blood sugar level is (ADA, 2018).

Health care access: The ability to gain entry into or utilize the health care service (HealthyPeople.gov. (2018).

Albuminuria: Presence of albumin (type of protein) in the urine (ADA, 2018).

African American: Individuals with any ancestry of African tribes, especially those of Black African ancestors (Merriam-Webster, Incorporated, 2018).

Eye screening: Useful for those with DM in identification eye conditions such as diabetic retinopathy that may result in vision loss (American Academy of Ophthalmology, 2018a). An appropriate referral can then be made to an eye specialist for further management (American Academy of Ophthalmology, 2018a).

Blood glucose: Principal sugar found in the body and the body's primary source of energy (ADA, 2018).

Diabetes mellitus (DM): A metabolic disorder characterized by chronic hyperglycemia (continuing elevated levels of blood sugar) resulting from defects in insulin action, insulin secretion, or both (WHO, 2018).

Type 1 Diabetes mellitus (T1DM) Medical problem with the body when blood glucose level rises higher than normal because insulin is not being produced enough (ADA, 2018).

Type 2 Diabetes mellitus (T2DM): Medical problem with the body when blood glucose level rises higher than normal because insulin is not being appropriately used, insulin not being produced enough (ADA, 2018).

Hemoglobin A1c (HBA1C): A biochemical measure of average blood sugar within three months (WHO, 2018).

Macroangiopathy: Diseases of large arteries (WHO, 2018).

Microangiopathy: Diseases of small arteries called arterioles (WHO, 2018). *Neuropathy:* Diseases of nerves (WHO, 2018). Nephropathy: Kidney disease (WHO, 2018).

Assumptions

NHANES 2011-2016 datasets were utilized in answering the proposed research questions in this study. However, for the datasets' appropriateness of secondary analysis, it is assumed that they are adequate to answer the research questions (Mohajan, 2017; Salimi & Ferguson-Pell, 2017). It is therefore assumed that the datasets have an appropriate sample, the random sampling method was utilized, and the quality of the measurement instruments has been assured by the reliability and validity of measurements that have been established in other settings (Anand et al., 2017; Salimi & Ferguson-Pell, 2017). The study sample of adult African Americans with DM represented the population of interest in the study. Andersen model of health services use allowed for the exploration of factors that affect health care access that is very significant in the prevention of diabetic retinopathy among African Americans. As such it was suitable for examining the association between independent variables of predisposing factor of gender, the need factor of DM comorbidities, enabling factor of health care access, and health care utilization measured as the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy.

Scope and Delimitations

This was a cross-sectional study that explored the association between diabetes comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, gender, health care access, and diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans by secondary data analysis of 2011-2016 NHANES datasets. Adult African Americans with DM are disproportionately affected by diabetic retinopathy, as such this population was suitable for this study. However, there are delimitations of the study such as the exclusion of institutionalized individuals, Americans resident outside the 50 states and the district of Colombia, and all active-duty servicemen and women with their families residing overseas; as such the results of this research may not be generalizable to those that did not qualify for inclusion in the survey (CDC, 2017a). Also, a cross-sectional study examines relationships between multiple variables in a specified population at a particular time-frame, so the results are fixed without any indication of the order of events; cause and effect from simple association cannot be established (Caruana, Roman, Hernández-Sánchez, & Solli, 2015; Mariani & Pego-Fernandes, 2014; Omair, 2015; Setia, 2016).

Significance

Implications for positive social change from this study is that knowledge gained from the study will be useful in planning and developing effective public health interventions targeting specific African American populations, resulting in decreased physical, mental, and socioeconomic burdens on this population. In this study, determining the factors that influence health care utilization disparities among adult African American populations with DM concordant comorbidities will help in identifying barriers to the successful implementation of public health interventions in this population.

According to Walden University (2014), positive social change denotes participation in activities that lead to an improvement in the lives of community members, nationally or globally (Walden University, 2014). Understanding factors responsible for DM comorbidity disparities and diabetic retinopathy in adult African American populations can be utilized for their prevention and effective care through development and implementation of culturally appropriate interventions (Sachdeva et al., 2015). Social change implication of the research is that the results can be useful for the successful planning and implementation of public health prevention programs for African American populations. The consequence of which should be a decrease in the prevalence DR and associated physical, mental, and socioeconomic burdens on populations, especially the African American populations that are disproportionately affected (Lang, & Marković, 2016; Lin et al., 2015). This should lead to less morbidity, disability, and mortality from these diseases, which should lead to increased productivity that will lead to an improvement of the socioeconomic status of individuals and the economic status of the affected community.

Andersen model of health services use allowed for the exploration of factors that affect health care access that is very significant in the prevention of diabetic retinopathy among African Americans. The model's constructs applied to this study should help in understanding the predisposing, need, and enabling factors of health care utilization that determine diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans. In this study, a literature review was conducted to identify studies on the influences of gender, DM comorbidities, and health care access on diabetic retinopathy. The search yielded several articles, and some of the articles related to this present study were selected. Major themes in the selected articles are outlined below.

Summary

Andersen model of health services utilization allowed for the exploration of factors that affect health care access that is very significant in the prevention of diabetic

retinopathy among African Americans; it was suitable for examining the association between independent variables of predisposing factor of gender, the need factor of DM comorbidities, and enabling factor of health care access and health utilization that is indirectly measured as the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy (Andersen, 1968; Andersen & Newman, 1973). Hypertension and hyperlipidemia have positive associations with the development of diabetic retinopathy (Abdulghani, et al., 2018; Beckman & Creager, 2016; Cheng et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Klimek et al., 2015; Lin, Kent et al., 2015; Magnan et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2016; Pantalone et al., 2015; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Rosiek et al., 2016; Solomon et al., 2017; Song et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016; Zhuo et al., 2014). Duration of diabetes, uncontrolled hyperglycemia and hypertension are common important risk factors for the progression of diabetic retinopathy to vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy or loss of vision (Chen et al., 2014; Chew et al., 2014; Mendanha et al., 2016; Do et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Lima et al., 2016; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Ting et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016). Longer duration of diabetes, uncontrolled hyperglycemia, hypertension, and dyslipidemia are associated with diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans (Papavasileiou et al., 2017; Penman et al., 2016). There are racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic disparities in health care access in the United States (Bailey et al., 2016; Hu et al., 2016; Laiteerapong et al., 2015).

However, there is a dearth of public health research on the associations between a predisposing factor of gender, need factors of DM comorbidities (hypertension and hyperlipidemia), and enabling factor of health care access and utilization and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans. This research examined the association

between these predisposing, need, enabling factors of health care utilization, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans. The results should fill a gap in public health knowledge that should contribute to an improvement in population health planning and implementation.

Conclusions

This research aimed at examining the association between predisposing, need and enabling health care factors that influence health care utilization among African Americans, which is responsible for diabetic retinopathy disparities in adult African American populations. This should help in identifying barriers to the successful implementation of public health interventions. A gap will be filled in literature with the understanding of the factors responsible for diabetic retinopathy disparities in African American populations.

In the next section, there is discussion about the research study design and data collection that include research study design and the rationale for choosing the design; methodology with its sub-sections of study population including its size, sampling and sampling procedures used in data collection, study instrumentation, and study variables operationalization; threats to validity; ethical considerations; and summary.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

Introduction

In this quantitative research, I examined associations between gender, DM comorbidities, health care access (independent variables), and diabetes retinopathy (dependent variable), among sampled adult African Americans in the United States. Covariates were age groups, UACR, HBA1C level, marital status, adult education level, and household income. I analyzed data from nationally representative datasets from the NHANES 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 cycles (see NCHS, n.d.) on DEMO (demographics), DIQ (diabetes questionnaire), BPQ (blood pressure and cholesterol questionnaire), ALB CR (urine levels), HIQ (health insurance questionnaire), BPX (blood pressure measurements), HDL, TCHOL, TRIGLY (blood levels), and GHB (HBAIC level). Individual datasets for each cycle were merged to produce a final cycle's dataset, datasets from the three NHANES cycles were appended to produce the final dataset, and new a data set specific to the study sample was created. Participants were adult African Americans, aged 20 years and above, with a self-reported diagnosis of diabetes (NCHS, n.d; Li et al., 2010; Yan et al., 2018). In this section, I discuss the research study design and data collection. The discussions are in order of research study design and the rationale for choosing the design; methodology with its subsections of study population including its size, sampling and sampling procedures utilized used in data collection, study instrumentation, and study variables operationalization; threats to validity; ethical considerations; and summary.

Research Design and Rationale

The design for this research was a quantitative cross-sectional study. The research was approached through a retrospective analysis of nationally representative secondary datasets, with both the independent and dependent variables extracted from NHANES 2011 – 2016 datasets. The independent variables and covariates represent constructs of the Andersen model of health services utilization such as predisposing factors (age, gender, marital status, education level, and household income); need factors of comorbidities (DM, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, HBA1C and UACR); and enabling factors of health care access (household income, level, current health insurance, availability of regular diabetes doctor, diabetes specialists, and eye-screening service); and the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy that is a proxy measure of health services utilization.

Quantitative research is used in quantifying relationships between the independent or predictor variable(s) and the dependent or outcome variable(s) by way of experiments or data analysis (Creswell, 2014). Researchers conduct cross-sectional studies to examine relationships between multiple variables in a specified population (a representative sample from the population) at a particular timeframe (Caruana et al., 2015; Mariani & Pego-Fernandes, 2014; Omair, 2015; Setia, 2016). A correlational research design is used to examine the existence of a significant linear relationship between the independent (predictor) and dependent (outcome) variables; the direction and strength of that relationship are also determined (Curtis et al., 2016; Omair, 2015). Correlational research designs can be explanatory or predictive (Curtis et al., 2016; Omair, 2015). An explanatory correlational research design involves a cross-sectional data collection approach, whereas for a predictive correlational research design, longitudinal data are collected (Curtis et al., 2016; Omair, 2015). For this study, I used a correlational crosssectional design in examining whether there were significant associations between some specific health care utilization factors and diabetic retinopathy among African Americans. I chose the correlational cross-sectional study design considering the time available for this dissertation, which would not have permitted a longitudinal study design because of repeated observations that might be required over a long period (Caruana et al., 2015; Curtis et al., 2016; Omair, 2016). Moreover, secondary data used for this study were collected within specific time-periods (see NCHS, n.d.).

Cross-sectional studies are comparatively cheap and quick to carry out; multiple measurements can be taken at the same time and is exclusive of variable(s) manipulation. Although the results from cross-sectional studies are fixed without any indication of the order of events and cause and effect from the simple association cannot be established, the associations identified can then be studied rigorously by utilizing randomized control trial (RCT) or cohort study (Mariani & Pego-Fernandes, 2014; Setia, 2016). For example, identified associations and significant relationships between gender, DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, health care access, and diabetic retinopathy are indicators of what can be studied further to ascertain cause and effect through RCT or cohort study.

Methodology

Population

The target population for the NHANES 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 cycles was the noninstitutionalized civilian resident population of the United States (Asiamah, Mensah, & Oteng-Abayie, 2017; NCHS, 2017a). The researchers used oversampling to ascertain accurate representation of underrepresented groups that included African Americans, adults Whites 60 years and over, Hispanics, and Asians (NCHS, 2017). The target sample for this study were African Americans 20 years or over with DM that were study participants in the 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles; a total of 634 (n = 634) study participants. The minimum sample size of 308 for this research was calculated from an a priori power analysis utilizing G*POWER 3.1.9.2 (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009).

Sampling in NHANES

Sampling is the procedure for selecting sampling units (individuals) from the sample frame (Martinez-Mesa et al., 2016). It is important that the sampling plan is specified early in the research process since the sample size estimation may be affected by the method of sampling (Martinez-Mesa et al., 2016).

Sampling frame. The sample frame for research is a list of all individuals within a target population that can be sampled based on the sampling procedure employed in the study (Martinez-Mesa, Gonzalez-Chica, Duquia, Bonamigo, & Bastos, 2016). The sampling frame for NHANES is all the U.S. counties (CDC, 2017a).

Sampling techniques. Quantitative researchers can use either probability

sampling methods that employ random participants selection or nonprobability sampling methods that utilize convenient and opportunistic sampling techniques for participant selection (Martinez-Mesa et al., 2016; Omair, 2014). Probability sampling includes simple random sampling, systematic random sampling, cluster sampling, multistage sampling, and stratified random sampling (Martinez-Mesa et al., 2016; Omair, 2014). Probability sampling techniques are preferred to nonprobability sampling techniques because study results can be generalized beyond the study sample to the target population (Martinez-Mesa et al., 2016; Omair, 2014). Complex multistage probability sampling technique was utilized for 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles (NCHS, n.d.). Multistage probability technique utilized involves (a) counties sampling (primary sampling units); (b) segments sampling; (c) household sampling; and (d) person sampling with the use of a computer algorithm that randomly selects some, all, or none of the household members (CDC, 2018; Martinez-Mesa et al., 2016; Omair, 2014).

The combined datasets for 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles was the sampling frame for this research. NHANES combined interviews (household interview, questionnaires, and mobile examination center [MEC] questionnaires), physical examination, and laboratory tests (CDC, 2017). After obtaining written consent, trained personnel, including medical doctors, administer the questionnaires and perform the medical examinations and laboratory tests (CDC, 2017 n.d.). In this research, I analyzed data on the target sample from the 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles.

NHANES data describe the prevalence or trends of disease, nutrition, risk behaviors, and environmental exposures in the US population (CDC, 2017). Probability sampling allows the survey results to be generalizable to the larger population from which the study sample was drawn (CDC, 2017a; NCHS, n.d.). NHANES, which was conducted on a periodic basis from 1970 but turned to a continuous survey in 1999, is a cross-sectional population-based survey that collects data on demographics, diet and nutritional status, risk factors, adolescent health, environmental exposure, reproductive health, and chronic diseases on a nationally representative sample of the U.S. population (NCHS, 2017). Although 43,090 individuals were selected for NHANES 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 cycles from 30 different counties in each cycle, the interview was completed by 29,902 individuals, and 28,695 persons went through physical examination; response rate for the interviewed sample was 69%; and 66.6% for the examined sample (NCHS, n.d.).

Data Collection and Utilization Procedures for the Current Study

I analyzed data from the combined 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES datasets, such as DEMO.XPT (demographics), DIQ.XPT (diabetes questionnaire), BPQ.XPT (blood pressure and cholesterol questionnaire), ALB_CR.XPT (urine levels), HIQ.XPT (health insurance questionnaire), BPX.XPT (blood pressure measurements), HDL.XPT, TCHOL.XPT, TRIGLY.XPT and GHB.XPT (blood levels) were analyzed (NCHS 2013; NCHS, 2015; NCHS, 2017b). NHANES data have been utilized as secondary data sources for some descriptive and analytical research that include behavioral and chronic disease-related studies such as diabetes retinopathy (Ahluwalia et al., 2017; Shah, 2016; Song et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2010). The 2015-2016 NHANES cycle dataset that was previously downloaded for the study did not yield sufficient study sample to meet the minimum study sample requirement of 308 obtained from a priori power analysis, this necessitated the acquisition of additional datasets from 2011-2012 and 2013-2014 NHANES cycles. NHANES datasets are in the public domain like other data and materials created by federal agencies, which may be reproduced; there was no requirement for special permission for gaining access to them (CDC, 2017a).

Study Sample Size: Power Analysis

Performing sample size determination by power analysis requires effect size, desired Type I error rate (α) that is often set at p < .05, and the power, that is based on the desired Type II error rate, which is also conventionally set at 80% (Columb & Atkinson, 2016; Faul et al., 2009). In using power analysis to determine the sample size for multiple regression analysis of the dataset for this research, the G*Power application was used (Faul et al., 2009). I selected *z* test as test family and logistic regression as the statistical test were selected. Power was set to .80, the desired Type I error rate (α) was set to .05; odds ratio at 1.5, and 2-tail hypothesis direction were selected based on the nondirectional hypothesis for this research. The minimum sample size of 308 for this research was calculated from an a priori power analysis utilizing G*POWER (Faul et al., 2009).

Instrument and Operationalization of Variables

Data for 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles were from initial home interviews and health examination section of the study conducted in the

mobile examination center (NCHS, n.d.). Specific items and scales utilized from the combined 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES datasets included DEMO.XPT (demographics), DIQ.XPT (diabetes questionnaire), BPQ.XPT (blood pressure and cholesterol questionnaire), ALB_CR.XPT (urine levels), HIQ.XPT (health insurance questionnaire), BPX.XPT (blood pressure measurements), HDL.XPT, TCHOL.XPT, TRIGLY.XPT and GHB.XPT (blood levels) were analyzed (NCHS 2013; NCHS, 2015; NCHS, 2017b). I did not need any permission to use these datasets. The different datasets from particular NHANES cycle were merged, the final datasets from the three NHANES cycles were appended, and new data set peculiar to the study sample was created.

To answer the research questions, there was a need to recode some of the variables that have been used by NHCS in the original data collection to new variables and merging of variables to form composite variables such as DM comorbidity and health care access. The new dataset contains some demographic variables such as age groups, marital status, gender, annual household income, and adult education level; health insurance coverage; diabetes affected eyes/had retinopathy; high blood pressure and high cholesterol; UACR and HBAIC level. The variables were arranged into diabetic retinopathy (dependent variable); DM comorbidities, gender, health care access (independent variables); and age groups, HBA1C level, UACR, marital status, household income, and education level (covariates). A complex sample plan for complex sample analysis was created. The complex sampling plan was developed to assure correct data weighting, considering the effect of oversampling of African Americans and some other

groups that would have resulted in samples that were no longer representative of the populations, with consequential inaccurate findings. The final dataset was stored.

Diabetic retinopathy, the dependent variable utilized for this study was assessed by participants' self-report of having been informed by a doctor that the eyes were affected by diabetes; the level of measurement is binomial categorical. Assessment of DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia were through participants selfreport of being informed of by a health professional about having high blood pressure more than twice, an average systolic blood pressure at the medical examination center (MEC) of ≥130mmhg, and self-report of current use of medications for high cholesterol and low blood HDL level at the MEC; level of measurement is binomial categorical (American Heart Association (2019; U.S. National Library of Medicine [NIH], 2018). Gender is assessed through a self-report of being female or male; binomial categorical. Health care access was assessed by combining covered by health insurance, seeing a regular doctor for diabetes, last time had pupils dilated for exams variables into one variable with a binomial categorical level of measurement.

Covariate of age groups was assessed by self-report of age in years at screening, the age groups are as advised by NCHS; it is an ordinal categorical variable (NCHS, 2018). HBA1C level was assessed by the participants HBA1C level, a continuous level of measurement (ADA, 2018; Garber et al., 2018). Assessment of participants' UACR was by the participants' UACR levels, a continuous level of measurement (ADA, 2018). Marital status is a binomial categorical variable. Annual household income and education level variables are ordinal categorical. For complex sample analysis, variables that identified the sample strata, sample clusters, and sample weight are included. The following table shows the operationalization of study dependent and main independent variables, covariates, and complex sample parameters

Table 1

Variables	Survey questions	Data code	Variable type
Diabetes retinopathy	Diabetes affected eyes/had retinopathy?	0 = No. 1 = Yes	Binomial dependent
DM comorbidities	 Ever told you had high blood pressure 2+ times Systolic hypertension Now taking meds for high cholesterol Low HDL 	0 = No DM comorbidity 1 = DM comorbidity	Binomial independent
Age groups	Age in 20-39; 40-59; and 60 years and over	1 = 20-39 years 2 = 40-59 years 3 = 60 years and over	Ordinal covariate
Gender	Gender	0 = male 1 = female	Binomial independent
Health care access	 Covered by health insurance Has a regular doctor for diabetes Last time had pupils dilated for exam? 	0 Did not have health care access 1 Had health care access	Binomial independent
UACR	Urine Albumin/creatinine ratio (mg/g)	0.21 to 9000	Continuous covariate
HBAIC	Blood HBAIC level %	3.5 to 17.5	Continuous covariate
Adult education level	Adult Education level	1 = Less than high school 2 = High school Grad/ GED or Equivalent	Ordinal covariate (table continues)

Operationalization of Study Independent, Dependent, and Covariate Variables

Variables	Survey questions	Data code	Variable type
		3 = Some College or AA degree	
Marital status	Marital status	 4 = College graduate or above 1 Married 2 Divorced, widowed, and separated 3 Never married and living with a partner 	Categorical covariate
Annual household Income	Annual household income	0 = Refused, Don't know, Missing 1 = less than \$20,000 2 = \$20,000-\$44,999 3 = \$45,000-\$74,999 4 = \$75,000-\$99,999 5 = \$100,000 & over	Ordinal covariate
Masked variance pseudo- stratum	SDMVSTRA	n/a	Complex sampling weighting variable
Masked variance pseudo- PSU	SDMVPSU	n/a	Complex sampling weighting variable
Full sample 2-year MEC exam weight	WTMEC2YR	n/a	Complex sampling weighting variable

Data Analysis

Data analysis was conducted with SPSS (Version 25). I downloaded datasets from 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles, such as DEMO.XPT (demographics), DIQ.XPT (diabetes questionnaire), BPQ.XPT (blood pressure and cholesterol questionnaire), ALB_CR.XPT (urine levels), HIQ.XPT (health insurance questionnaire), BPX.XPT (blood pressure measurements), HDL.XPT, TCHOL.XPT, TRIGLY.XPT and GHB.XPT (blood levels) (NCHS 2013; NCHS, 2015; NCHS, 2017b).

To answer the research questions, some variables previously used by NCHS in the original data collection were transformed into new variables, including composite

variables. Final variables for this study are mostly categorical with two continuous variables (HBAIC and UACR). Individual files from each NHANES cycle were merged into datasets for the respective cycles that were then appended to form a final dataset for 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles. A new dataset peculiar to the study sample of African Americans, 20 years and over, with a self-reported diagnosis of DM was subsequently created. The final dataset was then prepared for analysis.

A complex sampling plan was developed to assure correct data weighting that should lead to accurate findings, considering the effect of oversampling of African Americans and some other groups that would have resulted in samples that were no longer representative of the populations with consequential inaccurate findings (NCHS, 2018). Missing values were managed by listwise default deletion function of SPSS that automatically drops a missing case from analysis instead of its deletion from the dataset; it is automatically applied with logistic regression analysis in SPSS irrespective of any previous data cleaning method (IBM, 2016). In preventing the introduction of bias to estimates such as mean values with resultant misestimated values, handling outliers is important prior to data set analysis (Kwak & Kim, 2017). Identified outliers by an outlier detection function in binary logistics for glycohemoglobin and urine albumin-creatinine ratios were less than 5% of values of the two variables (Kwak & Kim, 2017; Sindhumol, Gallo, & Scrinivasan, 2017). High collinearity presence in a multiple linear or logistic regression model may result from predictors' high variances leading to inaccurate estimations, which can evoke doubts about the results of the analysis (Salmerón, García, & García, 2018). As such, collinearity detection by a variance inflation factor (VIF) and

tolerance is a necessary initial step compulsory first step in every multiple regression analysis (Salmerón et al., 2018). A variance inflation factor value of less than 10 or tolerance value greater than 0.1 is accepted as the absence of collinearity in a multiple regression model (Salmerón et al., 2018). Absence of extreme collinearity within the independent variables for this study was asserted with variance inflation factor values of less than 10 (see Table 7).

I conducted preliminary descriptive statistics. Frequencies and percentages were calculated for the categorical variables, and minimum and maximum scores, means, and standard deviations were computed for the two continuous variables (see Table 2)

Table 2

	Descriptive Anal	ysis Plan	for Depend	lent and Indepe	endent Variables, a	nd Covariates
--	------------------	-----------	------------	-----------------	---------------------	---------------

Variables	Variable type	Descriptive analysis
Diabetes retinopathy	Binomial Dependent	Percentages or Proportions
Age groups	Ordinal Covariate	Means and standard deviations
DM Comorbidities	Binomial Independent	Percentages or Proportions
Gender	Binomial Independent	Percentages or Proportions
Health Care Access	Binomial Independent	Percentages or Proportions
Adult Education Level	Ordinal Covariate	Percentages or Proportions
Marital Status	Categorical variable	Percentages or Proportions
Annual Household Income	Ordinal Covariate	Percentages or Proportions
UACR level	Continuous Covariate	Minimum, Maximum, Means and Standard deviations
HBAIC level	Continuous Covariate	Minimum, Maximum, Means, and Standard deviations

Research Questions and Hypothesis

The following research questions and hypothesis were addressed in this study:

RQ1: Is there an association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States?

*H*o1: There is no association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States

 H_1 1: There is an association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States.

RQ2: Is there an association between DM-related comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States?

*H*o2: There is no association between DM-related comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States.

 H_12 : There is an association between DM-related comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States.

RQ3: Is there an association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States?

*H*o3: There is no association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans with DM in the United States.

 H_1 3: There is an association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans with DM in the United States.

Level of significance (α) = 0.05.

Statistical Tests and Interpretation of Results

Sample characteristics were described with descriptive statistics. Percentages or proportions are for the categorical independent and dependent variables, and minimum and maximum scores, means, and standard deviations were computed for the continuous variables. The dependent variable (diabetic retinopathy) in this study is dichotomous, as such the relationships between diabetic retinopathy and the independent variables for this study can be examined by logistic regression (Ranganathan, Pramesh, & Aggarwal, 2017). Three logistic regressions were conducted to examine (a) the association between gender and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States; covariates include age groups, HBA1C level, UACR, marital status, adult education level, and annual household income; (b) the association between DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States; covariates are age groups, HBA1C level, UACR, marital status, adult education level, and annual household income; and (c) association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African-Americans in the United States; covariates are age groups, HBA1_C level, UACR, marital status, adult education level, and annual household income. These chosen covariates have been reported as risk factors for diabetic retinopathy in various studies on risk factors for diabetic retinopathy in various ethnic/racial populations, including adult African-American populations.

For statistical analysis, the independent variables and the covariates were included in all models; the results might have shown any significant relationship between gender and diabetic retinopathy in model 1, between DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia and diabetic retinopathy in model 2, and between health care access and diabetic retinopathy in model 3, after controlling for HBAIC level, age group, UACR, marital status, adult education level, and annual household income. Results of logistic regression analysis were interpreted as odds ratios, the associated confidence intervals, and p-values (Sperandei, 2014). Interpretation formats for both dependent and independent variables are shown in Table 3.

Table 3

Variables	Statistical analysis method	Interpretation of results
Model 1	Multiple logistic regression analysis	Odds ratios, the associated confidence intervals, and p values
Model 2	Multiple logistic regression analysis	Odds ratios, the associated confidence intervals, and p values
Model 3	Multiple logistic regression analysis	Odds ratio, the associated confidence intervals, and p values

Plan for statistical ar	ıalysis
-------------------------	---------

There are assumptions to be met to ensure the accuracy of statistical findings of logistic regression analysis; these assumptions are different from those of multiple linear regression analysis in some areas (McDonald, 2014; Sperandei, 2014). For example, linear relationship between the dependent and independent variables is not required, residuals are not required to be normally distributed, and there is no requirement for homoscedasticity (McDonald, 2014; Sperandei, 2014). However, assumptions associated with logistic regression include correct specification of the logistic regression model, specified absence of multicollinearity absence, inclusion of all relevant predictors, and large sample size (McDonald, 2014; Pituch & Stevens, 2016; Sperandei, 2014).

From the omnibus test of model coefficients table and the Nagelkerke R^2 from the model summary table, the overall model was significant (Pituch & Stevens, 2016) The individual predictors are relevant based on p values of .000 (< 0.05), the Wald test, and the EXP(B) (odds ratio) (Pituch & Stevens, 2016). Absence of collinearity within the independent variables for this study was determined with VIF values of less than 10 (see Table 7). According to Long (1997), for logistic regression, sample size larger than 500 is sufficient (Long, 1997). The sample size for this study (634) is adequate (see Long, 1997).

Threats to Validity

The main aim of NHANES is the production of a wide range of health and nutrition statistics based on age, gender, and race composition of the United States population (NCHS, 2017). All secondary data that include NHANES data requires a thorough assessment of not only the results but also rigors of the studies by assessment of data collection methods through measurement of validity and reliability measurement of instruments (Mohajan, 2017). Validity is the extent to which a concept is accurately measured in a quantitative study (Mohajan, 2017; Salimi & Ferguson-Pell, 2017). Types of validity include internal validity that refers to whether the observed effects on the dependent variable are related to the independent variables and not due to confounding variables; external validity, which is the extent the results can be generated beyond the study population; and construct validity that refers to how well the research instrument measures the constructs being studied (Mohajan, 2017; Salimi & Ferguson-Pell, 2017).

Threats to external validity affect the generalization of the study results beyond the study population, which in the NHANES, may be significant because of the oversampling of specific subgroups such as the African-Americans that could have resulted in response rate bias, the study result may not be representative of the general population (Meterko et al., 2017). The large sample used for the NHANES could have reduced the generalizability threat of the study results. Threats to internal validity include research factors, which have not been accounted for the effect on the outcome variables such as confound bias and reverse causation in correlational studies; self-reporting that can lead to recall bias due to inaccurate or incomplete recollections of past events or experiences, and reporting bias, which could arise from study participants prior knowledge of participation and the process involved, leading to suppression of information that may be deemed not to be socially acceptable (Salimi & Ferguson-Pell, 2017). Internal validity was minimized in 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles with the multistage probability sampling technique that was used. Confounding occurs when the observed effect on the dependent variable is related to the independent variable(s) and another factor that is independently associated with both dependent and independent variables, this can be corrected by covariate analysis (Salimi & Ferguson-Pell, 2017). The threat to construct validity may be due to the poor operationalization of study constructs, which for NHANES may be minimal because of

previous repeated use of the measurement instruments (Pierannunzi, Hu, & Balluz, 2013; Salimi & Ferguson-Pell, 2017). In a cross-sectional study, reverse causation is due to the inability to define the temporal precedence of variables (Salimi & Ferguson-Pell, 2017).

Ethical Procedures

This study utilized secondary data using de-identified data from 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 cycles datasets such as DEMO.XPT, DIQ.XPT, BPQ.XPT, HIQ.XPT, BPX.XPT, HDL.XPT, TCHOL.XPT, TRIGLY.XPT and GHB.XPT (NCHS 2013; NCHS, 2015; NCHS, 2017b).

I did not need any permission to use these datasets, and I did not need to obtain permission from NCHS before acquiring the dataset. The datasets were acquired upon obtaining the required Walden University Institutional Board (IRB) approvals before accessing the datasets for analysis. The IRB approval number is 03-26-19-0397499

Ethical guidelines for the protection of human subjects that must have been followed by NCHS included: the approval of the original request for new protocol #2011-17 by the NCHS review board; review process was utilized by NHANES; data collection was protected by public law (45 CFR 46); and participant consent was approved and documented by the NCHS review board before the commencement of the study (NCHS, 2017f; Office for Human Research Protections. 2016). Verbal consent was provided by the primary study participants for 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES during the process of recruitment, and data were subsequently anonymized (NCHS, n.d). 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES datasets do not contain any identification of study participants. Upon obtaining IRB approval from Walden University, the four datasets will be downloaded from the NCHS site and saved in a separate jump drive secured in my workbag and will only be accessed as needed for my doctoral study alone. The datasets and all related files will be kept in my home safe and destroyed later.

Summary

In this chapter, I provided a detailed discussion of the research design and data collection for my study on the association between gender, DM comorbidity, health care access, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans. The chapter commenced with a discussion of the study research design and the rationale for its use, followed by an exhaustive discussion on methodology including study population and its size determined by a priori power analysis utilizing G*Power; sampling and sampling procedures utilized used in data collection for the 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles, and the current research; study instrumentation and study variables operationalization; data analysis plan; threats to validity with particular reference to internal, external, and construct validity; and ethical considerations. In the next section, I will discuss the presentation of results and findings.

Section 3: Presentation of the Results and Findings

Introduction

This research is aimed at examining associations between health utilization factors of gender, DM comorbidities of hypertension and cholesterol, and health care access, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans. In this section, after describing the data collection method for the 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles data, I present the results and findings from data analysis using SPSS (Version 25). Discourse on results encompasses descriptive statistics on study participants, evaluation of statistical assumptions as appropriate to the study, report on statistical analysis findings organized by research questions and hypotheses, and report on results of posthoc analyses of statistical tests, as applicable.

Data Collection Method of 2011-2016 NHANES Data

For this study, I used data from a nationally representative combined dataset of 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles. NHANES uses complex, multistage probability design with a large sample to assure reliability and precision of the health status of the target population and selected sample (CDC/NCHS, 2017a). Upon obtaining IRB approvals, I downloaded individual datasets for each of the three cycles (see NCHS 2013; NCHS, 2015; NCHS, 2017b) such as DEMO.XPT (demographics), DIQ.XPT (diabetes questionnaire), BPQ.XPT (blood pressure and cholesterol questionnaire), ALB_CR.XPT (urine levels), HIQ.XPT (health insurance questionnaire), BPX.XPT (blood pressure measurements), HDL.XPT, TCHOL.XPT, TRIGLY.XPT and GHB.XPT (blood levels). Acquiring the three combined datasets was necessary to obtain

a large sample of 500 or more participants for logistics regression analysis for this study (see Long, 1997).

I merged the individual datasets for each respective year by participant sequence number and subset to include only observations pertinent to this research to form a dataset for the year. The resulting three datasets were appended to create a combined dataset that I sorted based on variables of the African American race, age 20 years and over, and DM. The number of sampled individuals for the 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles was 43,090; of these participants, 29,902 (69%) had been interviewed, and 28,695 (66.6%) had been examined (NCHS, 2013, 2015, 2017). There were 7121 (18.2%) African Americans interviewed, 3809 (52.8%) of whom were 20 years of age or older, and 634 (8.9%) of whom were 20 years of age or older with selfreport of diabetes diagnosis (NCHS, 2013, 2015, 2017).

To answer the research questions, I transformed some of the variables that have been used by NHCS in the original data collection into new variables, including composite variables (diabetes comorbidity and health care access). Final variables for this study were predominantly categorical, except for two continuous variables (HBA1C levels and UACR). A complex sampling plan was developed to assure correct data weighting that should lead to accurate findings, considering the effect of oversampling of African-Americans and some other groups that would have resulted in samples that were no longer representative of the populations, with consequential inaccurate findings and poor generalizability (see NCHS, 2018). Using SPSS (Version 25), I performed descriptive and inferential data analysis of the final dataset utilizing the created complex sample plan developed to assure correct data weighting and national representativeness of the findings.

Independent categorical variables are automatically dummy coded by SPSS in logistic regression, with 0 as a reference factor. I obtained weighted and unweighted frequencies and percentages for the categorical independent variables and the dependent variables, as well as mean, standard deviation, minimum, and maximum scores for the continuous variables of HBAIC and UACR.

Results

Descriptive Statistics of Demographic and Baseline Study Variables

The final dataset consisted of 634 African Americans age 20 years or older with self-report of diabetes (n = 634); average age was 58.96 years (SD = 12.875). Males were 52.7% of the study sample, and married participants were 40%. The proportion of study sample in the age group 60 years and over was 62.1%. Over half of the study sample (63.2%) reported annual household income of less than \$50,000, and the proportion of study participants with at least some college education or higher was 66.4%. Table 4 illustrates dependent and independent variables for this study, with unweighted and weighted frequencies and percentages for the variables.
Table 4

Unweigh	ited and	Weighte	d Frequencies	and Percen	tages for	the Dep	endent	and
Categori	ical Inde	ependent	Variables for	the Study				

Characteristic	Unweighted frequencies	Unweighted percentage	Weighted frequencies	Weighted percentage
Diabetic retinopathy		percensige	nequencies	porcentinge
No	498	78.5	8502144.436	80.1
Yes	136	21.4	2110093.204	19.9
Diabetes comorbidity				
No				
Yes	391	61.7	6454005	60.8
	243	38.3	4158233	39.2
Gender				
Male	334	52.7	4805837	45.3
Female	300	47.3	5806400	54.7
Health care access				
No	603	61	6454005	60.8
Yes	31	38	4158233	39.2
Age groups				
20, 30 years	23	3.6	564420	5.3
20-39 years	217	34.2	1861811	15.8
40-49 years	394	62.1	5182974	48.8
60 years and over	574		5162974	40.0
Annual household				
income				
Less than \$20,000	177	30.1	2895258	29.2
\$20,000 to \$44999	162	27.5	2716332	27.4
\$45,000 to \$74,999	118	20.0	1964410	19.8
\$75,000 to \$99,999	38	6.5	632913	6.4
\$100,000 and over	57	9.7	1121392	11.3
Marital status				
Married	260	41.0	4122288	38.8
Widow, divorced Separated	240	37.9	4079050	38.4
Never married Living with a partner	33	21.0	2398910	22.6
21. Ing whith a partition				

Descriptive statistics for continuous pertinent baseline and independent variables are shown in Table 5. The average HBAIC level was 7.5% (SD = 2.11) and UACR was 232.00 mg/g (SD = 687.14). Average systolic blood pressure was 134 mmhg (SD =20.67) and diastolic blood pressure was 69 mmhg (SD = 16.44). Average total cholesterol was 181.46 mg/dl (SD = 48.72), HDL cholesterol was 51.3 mg/dl (SD = 15.49), and LDL was 102.64 mg/dl (SD = 39.04).

Table 5

Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Pertinent Baseline and Independent Study Variables

	Minimum	Maximum	М	SD
HBA1C (%)	4.60	17.80	7.52	2.11
UACR (mg/g)	1.91	5928.00	232.00	687.14
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	86	190	134	20.667
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0	110	69.80	16.493
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	75	389	181.46	48.723
Direct HDL-Cholesterol (mg/dl)	22	156	51.43	15.489
LDL-Cholesterol (mg/dl)	15	240	102.64	39.040

Table 6 depicts the unweighted and weighted frequencies and percentages for the composite independent categorical variables' factors. For example, for health care access, 89.6% of study participants reported having health insurance coverage, 80.0% reported having a regular diabetes doctor, and 76.8% reported having had recommended dilated eye examination. For diabetic comorbidities, about 68.5% reported being informed that

they had high blood pressure twice and 35.7% had systolic high blood pressure recorded; current use of cholesterol medications was reported in about 55.25%, and 18.5% had low HDL blood measurement.

Table 6

Descriptive Statistics f	or (Composite.	Independer	nt Categorical	Variables	' Factors
--------------------------	------	------------	------------	----------------	-----------	-----------

Factor	Unweighted	Unweighted	Weighted	Weighted
	frequencies	percentage	frequencies	percentage
Covered by health				
insurance				
No	65	10.3	1304773	12.3
Yes	568	89.6	9294088	87.6
Regular diabetes doctor				
No	127	20.0	2176647	20.5
Yes	507	80.0	8435590	79.5
Last dilated eye exam				
Not as recommended	139	21.9	2463269	23.2
As recommended	495	78.1	8148969	76.8
Told had high blood				
pressure twice				
No	59	9.2	976194	9.2
Yes	438	68.5	7271466	68.5
Systolic high blood				
pressure				
No	425	64.3	6824038	64.3
Yes	209	35.7	3788200	35.7
Now taking cholesterol				
meds	44	69	788858	74
No	350	55.2	5790169	54.6
Yes	550	55.2	5770107	51.0
Low HDL				
No	325	81.5	5297295	82.0
Yes	74	18.5	1161142	18.0

Inferential Statistics

Three research questions and hypothesis were addressed in this study. The dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy was a binary response variable. Complex samples logistic regression was conducted due to the absence of complex samples binary logistic regression option in SPSS. Assumptions associated with logistic regression such as the correct specification of the logistic regression model, the inclusion of all relevant predictors, large sample size, and absence of multicollinearity were met (McDonald, 2014; Pituch & Stevens, 2016; Sperandei, 2014). Absence of multicollinearity was assured with the variance inflation factor (VIF) values of the independent variables that were less than 10, as shown in Table 7.

Table 7

Variables	VIF*
Urine albumin-creatinine ratio	1.067
Marital status	1.246
Age groups	1.248
Annual household income	1.439
Diabetes comorbidity	1.046
Health care access	1.551
Adult education level	1.164
Gender	1.128
HBAIC	1.128

Variance Inflation Factor Values for Independent Variables and Covariates

*Note: Multicollinearity is absent with VIF value of < 10 (Pituch & Stevens, 2016; Salmerón et al., 2018).

I conducted a two-step complex samples logistic regression analysis to answer each research question (see Sperandei, 2014). The first step was a model to investigate the relationship between the main predictor variable and the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy; it served as a comparison model (Sperandei, 2014). The second step was a full model to determine the strength of the effect of multiple independent variables (main independent variables and covariates) on the dependent variable (see Sperandei, 2014).

Research Question 1

Is there an association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States?

*H*o1: There is no association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States.

 H_1 1: There is an association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States.

 $\alpha = .05$

To address this question, a two-step complex samples logistic regression analysis was conducted (see Sperandei, 2014). The first step of the regression analysis was a reduced model with the predictor variable of gender and the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy. From the default predicted versus observed classification table in SPSS, this regression model correctly classified participants 80.1% of the time. The overall model for this step was not significant, $x^2(1) = 3.795$, p = .063, Nagelkerke $R^2 =$.006. The null hypothesis that there was no association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States was not rejected. This model functioned as the model for comparison.

The second step of logistic regression analysis was full a full model with the predictor variable of gender, the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy, and all covariates of age groups, HBA1_C level, UACR, marital status, education level, and annual household income. This model correctly classified participants 81.2% of the time; a statistically significant improvement over the comparison model was provided, x^2 (7) = 134.113, p < .001, Nagelkerke $R^2 = .141$. UACR, annual household income, and adult education level were statistically significant. The null hypothesis that there was no association between the combined predictor variables of gender and the covariates and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States was rejected.

However, gender, the main variable of interest was not significant in the two models (p = .063 and .271); the null hypothesis for Research Question 2 was not rejected. Table 8 displays the results of the comparison and full models for the logistic regression for the association between gender and diabetic retinopathy in African Americans.

Table 8

	Variable				95% CI	95% <i>CI</i> for OR		
Step		Wald x ²	р	OR	Lower	Upper		
1	Gender	3.80	.063	0.73	0.53	1.02		
2	Gender (ref: Male)	1.28	.271	0.76	0.45	1.27		
	HBAIC	0.01	.919	1.00	0.93	1.07		
	Urine Albumin-Creatinine Ratio	107.34	.000	1.03	1.01	1.04		
	Marital Status (ref: Married)	0.25	.623	0.90	0.65	1.30		
	Annual Household Income (ref: Less than \$20,000)	17.31	.000	1.15	1.07	1.24		
	Age Groups (ref: 60-80 years old)	3.51	.075	0.73	0.51	1.04		
	Adult Education Level (ref: Less than High school Education)	4.42	.048	0.86	0.74	1.00		

Complex Samples Logistic Regression for Association Between Gender and Diabetic Retinopathy

Research Question 2

Is there an association between DM-related comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States?

*H*o2: There is no association between DM-related comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States.

 H_12 : There is an association between DM-related comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States.

 $\alpha = .05$

To address this question, a two-step complex samples logistic regression analysis was conducted (Sperandei, 2014). The first step of the regression model was a reduced model with the predictor variable of DM comorbidities and the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy. From the default predicted versus observed classification table in SPSS, this regression model correctly classified participants 80.1% of the time. The overall model for this step was not significant, x^2 (1) = 1.505, p < .232, Nagelkerke R^2 = .001. The null hypothesis that there was no association between DM comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States was not rejected. This model functioned as the model for comparison. The second step of the logistic regression model was full a full model with the predictor variable of DM comorbidities, the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy, and all covariates of age groups, HBA1c level, UACR, marital status, education level, and annual household income. UACR and annual household income were statistically significant. This model correctly classified participants 81.2% of the time; a statistically significant improvement over the comparison model was provided, x^2 (7) = 131.769, p < .001, Nagelkerke R^2 = .141. The null hypothesis that there was no association between the combined predictor variables of DM comorbidity and covariates and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States was rejected.

However, DM comorbidity, the main variable of interest was not significant (p = .232 and .098); the null hypothesis for Research Question 1 was not rejected. Table 9 displays the results of the comparison and full models for the logistic regression for the association between DM comorbidity and diabetic retinopathy in African Americans.

Table 9

					95% <i>CI</i> for OR		
Step	Variable	Wald x ²	р	OR	Lower	Upper	
1	Diabetic comorbidity	31.55	.232	1.30	0.95	1.78	
2	Diabetic comorbidity (ref: No comorbidity)	3.00	.098	1.30	0.95	1.78	
	HBAIC	0.02	.905	1.00	0.93	1.06	
	Urine Albumin-Creatinine Ratio	108.54	.000	1.02	1.00	1.04	
	Marital Status (ref: Married)	0.12	.734	0.99	0.67	1.32	
	Annual Household Income (ref: Less than \$20,000)	12.38	.002	1.13	1.05	1.23	
	Age Groups (ref: 60-80 years old)	3.47	.077	0.73	0.51	1.04	
	Adult Education Level (ref: Less than High school Education)	4.25	0.052	0.88	0.70	1.01	

Complex Samples Logistic Regression for Association Between DM Comorbidity and Diabetic Retinopathy

Research Question 3

Is there an association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States?

*H*o3: There is no association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans with DM in the United States.

H₁3: There is an association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans with DM in the United States.

 $\alpha = .05$

To address this question, a two-step complex samples logistic regression analysis was conducted (Sperandei, 2014). The first step of the regression analysis was a reduced model with the predictor variable of health care access and the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy. From the default predicted versus observed classification table in SPSS, this regression model correctly classified participants 80.1% of the time. The overall model for this step was not significant, $x^2(1) = 1.929$, p = .178, Nagelkerke $R^2 =$.010. The null hypothesis that there was no association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States was not rejected. This model functioned as the model for comparison.

The second step of logistic regression analysis was full a full model with the predictor variable of health care access, the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy, and all covariates of age groups, HBA1_C level, UACR, marital status, education level, and annual household income. This model correctly classified participants 81.0% of the time; a statistically significant improvement over the comparison model was provided, x²

(7) = 134.69, p <.001, Nagelkerke R^2 = .148. UACR and annual household income were statistically significant. The null hypothesis that there was no association between the combined predictor variables of health care access and the covariates and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States was rejected.

However, health care access, the main variable of interest was not significant (p = .178 and .177); the null hypothesis for Research Question 3 was not rejected. Table 10 displays the results of the comparison and full models for the logistic regression for the association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy in African Americans.

Table 10

Complex Samples Regression for the Association Between Health Care Access and Diabetic Retinopathy

					95% C	I for OR
Step	Variable	Wald x ²	р	OR	Lower	Upper
1	Health care Access	1.93	.178	0.35	0.73	1.67
2	Health Care Access (ref: No health care access)	1.96	.177	0.23	0.03	2.06
	HBAIC	0.00	.992	1.00	0.93	1.07
	Urine Albumin-Creatinine Ratio	111.05	.000	1.03	1.01	1.04
	Marital Status (ref: Married)	0.05	.828	0.97	0.70	1.34
	Annual Household Income (ref: Less than \$20,000)	15.00	.001	1.15	1.07	1.23
	Age Groups (ref: 60-80 years old)	2.75	.112	0.75	0.52	1.08
	Adult Education Level (ref: Less than High school Education)	3.94	.060	0.87	0.76	1.01

Summary

There were three two-step complex samples logistic regression (reduced and saturated models) conducted to address the three research questions. Null hypotheses for Research Questions 1, 2, and 3 were not rejected because of the main predictor variables of DM comorbidity of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, gender, and health care access, respectively, were not significant. Covariates of UACR, annual household income, and adult education level were statistically significant in Model 1; UACR and annual household income were statistically significant in Models 2 and 3.

In the next section, I will discuss the implications of the results relative to similar studies or publications. There will also be discussions on recommendations for the professional practice among public health professionals, advocates, policymakers, and clinicians, which should result in a positive social change with the reduction of physical, mental, and socioeconomic burdens of diabetic retinopathy in African Americans.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

Introduction

The purpose of this research was to examine associations between health utilization factors of gender, DM comorbidities of hypertension and cholesterol, health care access, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans. In this section, the research findings will be interpreted; I will also discuss the study limitations; recommendations for the professional practice among clinicians and public health professionals, advocates, and policymakers; implications for professional practice and social change. The section ends with a conclusion. Data analyzed for this research were from a nationally representative combined dataset of 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles. Descriptive and inferential data analysis of the final dataset was performed with SPSS (Version 25), using the complex sample plan I developed to assure correct data weighting that should lead to accurate findings representative of adult African American population in the United States.

This study revealed a diabetic retinopathy prevalence of 21.5 % among the study participants. Albuminuria, annual household income, and education level were significantly associated with diabetic retinopathy.

Interpretation of the Findings

Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetic retinopathy is the dependent variable for this study. More than one fifth (21.5%) of the study participants and almost one fifth (19.5%) of study participants who were 40 years and older were affected by diabetic retinopathy. Males (22.6%) were

affected a little more than females (17.6%) ($OR = 0.73 \ CL$, 0.53 - 1.019). The overall prevalence was lower than the result of previous research involving African Americans For example, results of Zhang et al.'s (2010) cross-sectional study using data on a similar population from the 2005-2008 NHANES cycles, showed almost two-fifths (38.8%, p = .01) of African Americans had diabetic retinopathy. However, diabetic retinopathy was diagnosed from ophthalmic digital images (fundus photographs) of participants taken for the NHANES 2005–2008 cycles (Zhang et al., 2010).

Results of the current research suggested a decline in the prevalence of selfreported diabetic retinopathy, which is consistent with results of previous studies that have shown a declining trend in the prevalence of self-reported diabetic retinopathy. For example, Shah (2016), from a cross-sectional analysis of data from the NHANES 2011– 2012 and 2013–2014 cycles reported a decline in the prevalence of self-reported diabetic retinopathy among U.S. adults, 40 years old and over, with a rate of 14.7% (95% *CI*, 11.7–17.8%). This represents a decline of 24.1% from the prevalence of 38.8% reported by Zhang et al. Luo et al. (2018) reported a significant decrease of 33% (trend p = .003) in the prevalence of self-reported diabetic retinopathy in North Carolina from 27.2% in 2000 to 18.3% in 2015; a decrease from 21.7% to 17.6% in Whites (trend p = .04), and a decrease of 39.4% to 20.2% in African Americans (trend p = .002). Luo et al. used data from the behavioral risk factor surveillance system (BRFSS). According to Luo et al., even though a declining trend in the prevalence of self-reported diabetic retinopathy was observed, African Americans were still disproportionately affected.

Research Question 1

Is there an association between gender and diabetes retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States?

The logistic regression models showed that the main independent variable, gender, was not significantly associated with diabetic retinopathy in African Americans. The result of this study is inconsistent with previous findings. However, after adjusting for covariates, urine albumin-creatinine ratio (p < .001), annual household income (p =.002), and adult education level (p < .048) were independently associated with diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans.

Results of the present study revealed that males (22.6%) were affected a little more than females (17.6%; $OR = 0.73 \ CL .53 - 1.019$). Previous studies have not established a consistent association between gender and development of diabetic retinopathy; and in the United States, there is no significant gender-related difference in the prevalence of diagnosed DM among adults (CDC, 2017; Ozawa et al., 2015; Wat et al., 2016). For example, Varma et al. (2007) reported that males had a 50% higher risk of having any diabetic retinopathy compared with women in the Los Angeles Latino eye study (OR = 1.50; p = .006). Although the results of Zhang et al.' (2010) study on a representative sample of the U.S. population suggested that male gender is an independent risk factor for diabetic retinopathy, the prevalence was higher among Whites (59.7 %; 95% *CI*, 49.5%–69.1%) compared to African-Americans (24.0%; 95% *CI*, 18.2%–30.8%; p = .008). Abdulghani et al. (2018) reported an association between male gender and diabetic retinopathy in adult Saudi diabetic patients. However, results of a prospective diabetes study 50 in the United Kingdom showed no difference in diabetic retinopathy rates between male and female sexes (p = 0.67), but it was a nonsignificant association (Stratton et al., 2001).

Association between albuminuria and diabetic retinopathy in this study is consistent with previous studies, as discussed under Research Question 1. Also, the association between annual household income and education level, both components of SES, and diabetic retinopathy is consistent with previous findings (Bird et al., 2015; Emoto, Okajima, Sugihara, & Goto, 2016; Funakoshi et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2018; Lee, 2018; Tao et al., 2016). The results of the current research will be discussed in the last paragraph of this subsection because of their consistent relationship with diabetic retinopathy concerning the three research questions.

Research Question 2

Is there an association between DM comorbidities of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetic retinopathy among adult African American populations in the United States?

The logistic regression showed no significant association between DM comorbidity of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, the main variable of interest, and diabetic retinopathy. However, after adjusting for covariates, UACR (p < .001) and annual household income (p = .002) were independently associated with diabetic retinopathy in African Americans. Research on the association between DM comorbidity of hypertension and hyperlipidemia in African American populations is scarce. However, the result of this present research is inconsistent with the findings of a previous study in

China by Cheng et al. (2014) that depicted a significant association between diabetic retinopathy prevalence and one, two, three, and four of the cardio-metabolites (hypertension, hypertriglyceridemia, HDL, and abdominal obesity) of 16.0%, 17.6%, 21.3%, and 25.1%, (p = .001) respectively.

The presence of modifiable DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia in individuals may not lead to complications. Hypertension exists when systolic blood pressure is greater than or equal to 140 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure is greater than or equal to 90 mmHg, or an individual is currently taking prescribed medicine to lower high blood pressure or told by a healthcare professional on two or more different visits that she/he had high blood pressure (American Heart Association, 2019). Normal systolic pressure is 120mmhg or below, and normal diastolic blood pressure is 80mmhg or lower. Average total cholesterol level is less than 200mg/dL, LDL is less than 100mg/dL, and HDL is 40mg/dL or higher (U.S. National Library of Medicine [NIH], 2018). Hypertension and hyperlipidemia are fairly controlled among the study participants.

Average measured systolic blood pressure of 134mmhg and HDL-cholesterol of 51.43 mg/dL suggest fairly controlled hypertension and hyperlipidemia among the study participants. The nonsignificant association between diabetic retinopathy and diabetic comorbidity of hypertension and hyperlipidemia in this study could have been caused by the fairly controlled hypertension and hyperlipidemia among the study participants, which is consistent with previous research findings. For example, a Cochrane review by Do et al. (2015) showed that hypertension treatment could prevent diabetic retinopathy

but does not slow its progression, and results of a Danish study by Nielsen and Nordestgaard (2014) showed that use of statins before diagnosis of DM was associated with decreased rate of retinopathy development; its use was also linked to improvement in visual acuity in those with diagnosed diabetic retinopathy.

Complications such as diabetic retinopathy arise when hypertension and hyperlipidemia are uncontrolled. Studies have shown that uncontrolled hypertension and hyperlipidemia although modifiable, are major intermediate factors underlying macro and microvascular disease such as diabetic retinopathy disparities of African American populations (Beckman & Creager, 2016; Lin et al., 2015; Magnan et al., 2015; Mozaffarian et al., 2016; Pantalone et al., 2015; Rosiek et al., 2016; Zhuo et al., 2014). Papavasileiou et al. (2017) and Penman et al. (2016) reported that diabetic retinopathy in African Americans is associated with longer duration of diabetes, uncontrolled hyperglycemia, and hypertension. Nonsignificant association between DM comorbidity of hypertension and hyperlipidemia may be related to their reasonably controlled levels.

For example, this present study revealed that for the composite variable of DM comorbidity, 68.5% of study participants were informed they had high blood pressure twice, and systolic high blood pressure was recorded on 35.7% of them. However, average recorded systolic blood pressure was 134mmhg, and average diastolic pressure 69.80 mmHg (see Tables 5 and 6). Likewise, for the composite variable of hyperlipidemia, 55.2% of participants reported taking cholesterol medications, and 18.5% of them had low HDL; yet average total cholesterol was 181.46 mg/dl, direct HDL cholesterol was 51.43 mg/dl, and LDL was 102.64 mg/dl (see Tables 5 and 6).

Albuminuria (proteinuria) is a recognized marker of nephropathy (kidney disease), and in patients with DM, it is a marker of diabetic nephropathy, which reflects microvascular complications of diabetes that include diabetic retinopathy (ADA, 2018). According to ADA, albuminuria can be detected by UACR screening in a spot urinalysis, and UACR of less than 30 mg/g Cr is accepted as normal. Average UACR in this study was 232.00 (SD = 687.14). Albuminuria and estimated glomerular filtration rate should be monitored regularly in diabetic patients for (a) timely diagnosis of diabetic nephropathy that may occur late in the course of DM, especially in individuals with Type 1 diabetics, or might be present at the time of diagnosis of Type 2 DM; (b) monitoring diabetic nephropathy progression; and (c) detection of other kidney diseases such as acute kidney injury that might be imposed on diabetic nephropathy (ADA). There is a paucity of literature on the relationship between albuminuria and diabetic retinopathy among African Americans.

The association between albuminuria and diabetic retinopathy in this study is consistent with previous studies globally (Ahmed, Elwali, Awadalla, & Almobarak, 2017; Hammes et al., 2015; Jeng et al., 2016; Korlarsky et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2017; Park et al., 2015). The results will be discussed fully at the end of this subsection because of the consistency of the relationship between albuminuria and diabetic retinopathy across the three research questions. The association between annual household income, a component of SES, and nephropathy is also consistent with previous findings. Annual household income is a component of SES. Results from the United States and other parts of the world have also depicted the relationship between diabetic retinopathy and SES. The results from the present study will be discussed in the last paragraph in this subsection because of their consistent relationship with diabetic retinopathy concerning the three research questions.

Research Question 3

Is there an association between health care access and diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans in the United States?

The logistic regression models showed that the main independent variable, health care access, was not significantly associated with diabetic retinopathy in African Americans. However, after adjusting for covariates, UACR (p < .001) and annual household income (p = .001), were independently associated with diabetic retinopathy among adult African Americans. The result that health care access is not associated with diabetic retinopathy is inconsistent with previous studies. For example, the results of several studies showed that health care access is crucial to achieving control of hyperglycemia, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia; early detection of diabetic retinopathy through regular eye-screening of DM patients; and prompt management of diabetic retinopathy and the progression to the late stages (Atchison & Barkmeier, 2016; Chen et al., 2014; Chew et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Lima et al., 2016; Mendanha et al., 2016; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Ting et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016).

Health care access involves getting into the health care system, which is commonly through medical insurance coverage, geographic accessibility of required health care services that include diabetes eye screening, and identifying a trustworthy health care provider that can be easily communicated with (Chou et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Mendanha et al., 2016; Romero-Aroca et al., 2016; Wat et al., 2016). The present study revealed that only 39.2% of the study population had access to health care, lack of which could have affected their adequate management, including regular eye screening for diabetic retinopathy. Relationship between disparities in diabetes prevention services obtained and status of medical insurance during health care facility visit was depicted by results of a retrospective cohort research by Bailey et al. (2016); with lower odds (AOR=0.73, 95% *CI* = 0.66, 0.80) of receiving services at scheduled visits in those that were continuously insured, compared to the continuously uninsured patients. However, the internal and external validity of the results is compromised by the purposive sampling method used and a predominantly Hispanic population.

Results of a prospective follow-up study by Hu et al. (2016) depicted that socioeconomic status is a stronger determinant of access to primary care and quality and outcomes in those with T2DM than race and ethnicity. Bird et al. (2015) reported that household income has a strong and independent association with the prevalence of T2DM and some concordant comorbidities; however, African Americans were not included in the study. Even though socioeconomic barriers were eliminated, there might be difficulties in identifying a trustworthy health care provider that can be easily communicated with, due to perceived racial discrimination.

Quality of health care service and the ability to identify a trusted health care provider are related to racial health care discrimination. Racial and ethnic disparities exist in quality of care provided for control of chronic noncommunicable diseases such as hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes that are risk factors for diabetic retinopathy, with African-Americans and other minority patients having suboptimal control for blood sugar, blood cholesterol, and blood pressure with resultant complications that include diabetic retinopathy (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2017; Laiteerapong et al., 2015; Yoon et al., 2015). According to Abramson et al. (2015), racial minorities, especially African-Americans reported more racial health care discrimination; and increased perceptions of discrimination were associated with poor communication with health care provider across all racial and ethnic groups, and perceptions of discrimination were associated with an increased level of education in all racial and ethnic groups except Whites. Laiteerapong et al. (2015) carried out a cross-sectional study on a nationally representative sample to determine disparities in diabetes care. The results showed that more Whites achieved A1C < 8% goal than African Americans (81% versus 74%, p <.001); fewer African Americans were recommended individualized LDL goals compared to Whites (10% versus 33%, p < .003; more Whites (51%) achieved individualized LDL control; and adequate blood pressure control goal of less than 140/90 mmHg was reached by fewer African-Americans compared to Whites (53% versus 69% P < .001). Results of a cross-sectional study by Assari et al. (2017) demonstrated that racial health care discrimination is reported more by African American men with T2DM than women; and perceived discrimination is associated higher levels of HBA1C in African American men.

Previous studies showed that even though African Americans are among those that are disproportionately affected by diabetic retinopathy, they had one of the lowest rates of diabetic retinopathy screening and scheduled follow-up eye care utilization (Keenum et al., 2016; Maclennan et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2015). Results of a prospective follow-up study by Keenum et al. (2016) showed that despite minimizing accessibility and costs as barriers to eye care, only a third of study participants adhered to scheduled intervals for follow-up eye care after the diabetic retinopathy screening.

Association between albuminuria and diabetic retinopathy in this study is consistent with previous studies, as discussed under research question 1. Also, the association between annual household (a component of SES) and nephropathy is consistent with previous findings. They are also consistent with findings in Research Questions 1 and 2. The relationship between annual household income alone and as a component of SES will be discussed in the last paragraph of this subsection.

Associations Between Albuminuria, Annual Household Income, Education Level, and Diabetic Retinopathy in African Americans

The association between albuminuria and diabetic retinopathy in this study is consistent across the three research questions in the current study and also with previous studies globally (Ahmed et al., 2017; Hammes et al., 2015; Jeng et al., 2016; Korlarsky et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2017; Park et al., 2015). For example, Lee et al. (2017) in South Korea from a cross-sectional study reported an independent association between UACR level and diabetic retinopathy and its severity in those with Type 2 DM. Results of a cross-sectional study in South Korea by Park et al. (2015), showed that there was a significant association between albuminuria and diabetic retinopathy and visionthreatening diabetic retinopathy in Type 2 diabetics with chronic kidney disease (p < .001 and .043) respectively. Ahmed et al. (2017) in Sudan reported a significant association between diabetic nephropathy and diabetic retinopathy (p = .009).

In Germany, microalbuminuria was independently associated with diabetic retinopathy, and the strongest predictors of severe retinopathy were micro- and macroalbuminuria and HbA1c (Hammes et al., 2015). Korlasky et al. (2014) in a retrospective study carried out in southern Israel reported a unidirectional association between diabetic nephropathy and diabetic retinopathy, with diabetic nephropathy preceding diabetic retinopathy (p < .001) and level of kidney damage was proportionate to the level of retinopathy. In Taiwan, Jeng et al. (2016) found that diabetic nephropathy was an independent risk factor for diabetic retinopathy development and progression (p < .001).

Associations between annual household income and education level, both components of SES and nephropathy are consistent with previous findings. They are also consistent with findings across the three research questions for the current study. According to APA, SES refers to the social class of an individual or group that is generally assessed by combining income, education, and occupation level (American Psychological Association, 2019). SES creates health inequity and inequality, including diabetic retinopathy that disproportionately affects disadvantaged groups such as the African American population. Studies showed that even though African Americans are among those are disproportionately affected by diabetic retinopathy, rates of diabetic retinopathy screening and scheduled follow-up eye care utilization were lowest in this population, which are related to limited health care access influenced by factors that include socioeconomic status (Hu et al., 2016; Keenum et al., 2016; Maclennan et al., 2014; Piyasena et al., 2019; Yu et al., 2015).

In South Korea, the odds of developing diabetic retinopathy is significantly decreased in men with highest household income (OR, 0.59; 95% CI, 0.37 - 0.95), while men in lower SES group had higher odds of developing diabetic retinopathy and poor metabolic control (Kim et al., 2018). In a cross-sectional study on Type 2 DM patients in China, Tao et al. (2016) reported that those with the least education were at higher risk for developing cardiovascular diseases such as diabetic retinopathy (p < .001) and cerebrovascular diseases ($p \le .001$); the highest prevalence of diabetic retinopathy ($p \le .001$); .001), and diabetic neuropathy (p < .001) was among patients with the lowest income. Among adults 20 - 40 years old with T2DM in Japan, when compared to those with a higher SES, there were higher odds of developing retinopathy among junior high school graduates (OR1.91, 95% CI 1.09 - 3.34); patients on public assistance (OR 2.19, 95% CI 1.20 - 3.95); patients without employment (OR 2.23, 95% CI 1.36 - 3.68); and patients with temporary employment (OR 1.72, 95% CI 1.03 - 2.86) after adjusting for covariates of gender, age, and BMI (Funakoshi et al., 2017). In South Korea, lower education level was associated with lower diabetic retinopathy screening (Lee, 2018). Emoto et al. (2016) reported that among individuals with poorly controlled Type 2 DM in Japan, there was a strong association between lower educational attainment and diabetic retinopathy, which is independent of the economic status.

Limitations of the Study

This was a cross-sectional study that utilized data on a nationally representative sample of adult African Americans with diabetes to examine the association between diabetic retinopathy and diabetes comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia, gender, health care access, and covariates (UACR, annual household income, age, marital status, $HBA1_{C}$, and education level). However, there are some limitations to the study. Study participants for NHANES were only noninstitutionalized legal residents in the 50 states and the District of Colombia; as such the results of this research may not be generalizable to those that did not qualify for inclusion in the survey (CDC, 2017a). The prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in this study could have been inaccurate because it was based on data from self-reported diagnosis, which could have resulted in recall bias due to inaccurate or incomplete recollections of past events or experiences, thus affecting the prevalence. Also, self-reported diagnosis without fundus photography of participants in 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles compared to 2005-2008 NHANES cycle could have underestimated the prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in this study.

As a cross-sectional study, the relationships between the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy and the independent variables were examined in a specified population within a specific timeframe; the association between diabetic retinopathy and the identified risk factors of albuminuria, annual house income, and education level were demonstrated. There was no indication of the order of events, limiting inference of cause and effect (Caruana et al., 2015; Mariani & Pego-Fernandes, 2014; Omair, 2015; Setia, 2016).

Recommendations

This cross-sectional study examined the relationships between the dependent variable of diabetic retinopathy and the independent variables that were in a specified population with a specific timeframe. Risk factors for diabetic retinopathy such as albuminuria, annual house income, and education level were identified, but cause and effect from simple association could not be established from the type of study design that was utilized. There is a paucity of literature on studies that established the identified risk factors as causes of diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans. I recommend that the associations identified in the present study should be studied rigorously by utilizing longitudinal study designs to establish cause and effect (Mariani & Pego-Fernandes, 2014; Setia, 2016).

Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in this study was based on data from selfreported diagnosis that could resulted in recall bias due to inaccurate or incomplete recollections of past events or experiences, which could have affected the prevalence. Self-reported diagnosis without fundus photography of participants in 2011-2012, 2013-2014, and 2015-2016 NHANES cycles compared to 2005-2008 NHANES cycle could have underestimated the prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in this study. Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in all adults in this study was 21.5% and 19.5% in those 40 years and older, similar to 14.7% reported by Luo et al. (2018), suggesting a decline in the prevalence of self-reported diabetic retinopathy. The prevalence is lower than the result of similar research by Zhang et al. (2010) that utilized digital retinal imaging system to assess the retina, with a prevalence rate of 38.8% among adults 40 years. I recommend the use of fundus digital imaging system photographs in assessing the retina of future NHANES participants, thus eliminating the recall bias associated with a self-reported diagnosis of diabetic retinopathy (Katulanda, Ranasinghe, & Jayawardena, 2014).

Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change

In this cross-sectional study, albuminuria, annual household income, and education level were identified as risk factors for diabetic retinopathy. Albuminuria (need factor), education level (predisposing factor), and annual household income (health care access factor) were identified as risk factors for diabetic retinopathy that affects about one-fifth of adult African Americans. The Andersen model of health care utilization was the framework for the research. Diabetic retinopathy is a significant cause of preventable eye damage that includes blindness; each year, between 12,000 and 24,000 new cases of blindness are caused by diabetes retinopathy (Skaggs et al., 2017).

The vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy, although a preventable complication of DM, is associated with disease, economic, health care system, and social burdens. Quality of life of persons with any degree of moderate or total visual loss is affected in many ways such as their psychological and physical well-being, their work and possible loss of earning power, social integration, independence, and greater need for quality health and social support that could be overwhelmed in disadvantaged communities that include some African American communities where such services barely exist (International Diabetes Federation, n.d.; Skaggs et al., 2017; Willis et al., 2017). Early detection of diabetic retinopathy is crucial in preventing visual impairment; and progression of diabetic retinopathy has been dramatically reduced by timely medical and surgical treatments (Jani et al., 2017).

Even though African Americans are among those disproportionately affected by diabetic retinopathy, rates of diabetic retinopathy screening and scheduled follow-up eye care utilization were lowest in this population, which are related to limited health care access influenced by factors that include socioeconomic status (Hu et al., 2016; Keenum et al., 2016; Maclennan et al., 2014; Piyasena et al., 2019; Yu et al., 2015). SES creates health inequity and inequality which can only be addressed by interventions that target the societal determinants of health, developed and implemented by considering the broader, proximal, population-focused determinants that influence health inequalities and inequities among African Americans (Gehlert et al, 2008; Thornton et al., 2016; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2010; WHO, 2016).

Positive social change can be affected in African American populations and other disadvantaged communities by public health officials, policymakers, and advocates by utilizing knowledge on the strong relationships between the health care utilization factors (need, predisposing, and enabling factors) and diabetic retinopathy in planning and developing effective public health interventions targeting these communities. This should result in a decreased burden of diabetic retinopathy on individuals, families and friends, health care systems, and social support systems among specific African American populations and other disadvantaged communities. Suggested policy interventions include quality housing and health services, elimination of health discrimination, improvement in education, and reduction in income disparity in some African American populations and other disadvantaged communities (Thornton et al., 2016).

Conclusion

This study investigated the associations between DM comorbidities of hypertension and hyperlipidemia (need factor), gender (predisposing factor), health access (enabling factor), and diabetic retinopathy in adult African Americans. The results demonstrated that DM comorbidities, gender, and health care access were not significantly associated with diabetic retinopathy. However, albuminuria (need factor), education level (predisposing factor), and household income (enabling factor) were significantly associated with diabetic retinopathy. These variables may be central to future studies to determine cause and effect relationships between diabetic retinopathy and the determinants of health care utilization among adult African Americans with DM.

The result of this study is consistent with those of previous studies, which depicted that albuminuria, annual household income, and education level are risk factors for diabetic retinopathy among different racial groups. As such, it is crucial to consider the need, predisposing, and enabling factors that determine health care utilization and detection of diabetic retinopathy when planning public health intervention policies targeting disadvantaged populations.

Chronic diseases such as DM, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia are modifiable risk factors for developing macro- and microvascular diseases such as diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy with their often-burdensome end stages that disproportionately affect African Americans and other disadvantaged racial and ethnic groups. The socioeconomic and health disparities can be reduced by public health advocates and policymakers developing policy interventions that address the socioeconomic drivers of health inequalities and inequities among African Americans and other disadvantaged racial and ethnic groups, and communities.

References

- Abramson, S. M., Hashemi, M., & Sánchez-Jankowski, R. (2015). Perceived discrimination in U.S. healthcare: Charting the effects of key social characteristics within and across racial groups. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 2(C), 615-621. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.07.006
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2017). Access and Disparities in Access to Health Care. 2016 National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report. Retrieved from https://www.ahrq.gov
- Ahmed, M. H., Elwali, E. S., Awadalla, H., & Almobarak, A. O. (2017). The relationship between diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy in Sudanese adult with diabetes: A population-based study. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews*. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2017.03.011
- Ahluwalia, N., Dwyer, J., Terry, A., Moshfegh, A., & Johnson, C. (2016). Update on NHANES dietary data: Focus on collection, release, analytical considerations, and uses to inform public policy. *Advances in Nutrition*, 7(1), 121-134. doi:10.3945/an.115.009258
- Al-Hasan, D. M., & Eberth, J. M. (2016). An ecological analysis of food outlet density and prevalence of Type II diabetes in South Carolina counties. *BMC Public Health*, 16(10). doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2681-6
- Al-Alawi, A., Al-Hassan, A., Chauhan, D., Al-Futais, M., & Khandekar, R. (2016).
 Knowledge, Attitude, and Perception of Barriers for Eye Care among Diabetic
 Persons Registered at Employee Health Department of a Tertiary Eye Hospital of

Central Saudi Arabia. *Middle East African Journal of Ophthalmology*, 23(1), 71-74. doi:10.4103/0974-9233.164629

American Academy of Ophthalmology. (2018a). Diabetic Retinopathy PPP - Updated 2017. Retrieved from https://www.aao.org/

American Academy of Ophthalmology. (2018b). What Is Diabetic Retinopathy? Retrieved from https://www.aao.org/

- American Diabetes Association. (2017). Economic costs of diabetes in the U.S. in 2017. Diabetes Care 2018, 41(5): 917-928. doi:10.2337/dci18-0007
- American Diabetes Association. (2018). Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes 2018. Diabetes Care, 41(Supplement 1). doi:10.2337/dc18-Sint01
- American Heart Association. (2019). Definitions, Data Sources and Methods. Retrieved from the AHA Center for Health Metrics and Evaluation website: https://healthmetrics.heart.org/
- American Psychological Association. (2019). Socioeconomic status. Retrieved from https://www.apa.org/

Anand, S., Kondal, D., Montez-Rath, M., Zheng, Y., Shivashankar, R., Singh, K., . . .
Kanaya, A. M. (2017). Prevalence of chronic kidney disease and risk factors for its progression: A cross-sectional comparison of Indians living in Indian versus U.S. cities. *Plos ONE*, *12*(3), 1-14. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173554

Andersen, R. (1968). *A behavioral model of families' use of health services*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago. Retrieved from https://ssa.uchicago.edu

Andersen, R., & Newman, J. F. (1973). Societal and individual determinants of medical

care utilization in the United States. *The Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly*. *Health and Society*. 51(1):95–124. doi: 10.2307/3349613

- Andress, L. (2017). Using a social-ecological model to explore upstream and downstream solutions to rural food access for the elderly. *Cogent Medicine*, *4:1393849*. doi:10.1080/2331205X.2017.1393849
- Assari, S., Lee, D. B., Nicklett, E. J., Moghani Lankarani, M., Piette, J. D., & Aikens, J.
 E. (2017). Racial discrimination in health care is associated with worse glycemic control among Black men but not Black women with Type 2 diabetes. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *5*, 235. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00235
- Asiamah, N., Mensah, H. K., & Oteng-Abayie, E. (2017). General, target, and accessible population: Demystifying the concepts for effective sampling. *The Qualitative Report, 22*(6), 1607-1621. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Atchison, E., & Barkmeier, A. (2016). The role of systemic risk factors in diabetic retinopathy. *Current Ophthalmology Reports*, 4(2), 84-89. doi:10.1007/s40135-016-0098-8
- Barsegian, A., Kotlyar, B., Lee, J., Salifu, M. O., & McFarlane, S. I. (2017). Diabetic retinopathy: Focus on minority populations. *International Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 3(1), 034-45. doi:10.17352/ijcem.000027
- Baynes, H. W. (2015). Classification, pathophysiology, diagnosis and management of diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Diabetes and Metabolism*, 6, 541. doi:10.4172/2155-6156.1000541

Bhattacharya, G. (2012). Self-management of Type 2 diabetes among African Americans
in the Arkansas Delta: A strengths perspective in social-cultural context. *Journal* of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved, 23(1), 161–178. doi:10.1353/hpu.2012.0035

Bailey, S. R., O'Malley, J. P., Gold, R., Heintzman, J., Marino, M., & DeVoe, J. E.
(2015). Receipt of diabetes preventive services differs by insurance status at visit. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 48(2), 229–233.
doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.08.035

Beckman, J. A., Creager, M. A. (2016). Vascular complications of diabetes. *Circulation Research. 17(1), 20–33.* doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306884

Bird, Y., Lemstra, M., Rogers, M., & Moraros, J. (2015). The relationship between socioeconomic status/income and prevalence of diabetes and associated conditions: A cross-sectional population-based study in Saskatchewan, Canada. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *14*(93). doi:10.1186/s12939-015-0237-0

Blackmon, S., Laham, K., Taylor, J., & Kemppainen, J. (2016). Dimensions of medication adherence in African Americans with Type 2 diabetes in rural North Carolina. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 28(9), 479– 486. doi:10.1002/2327-6924.12354

Brunisholz, K., Briot, P., Hamilton, S., Joy, E., Lomax, M., Barton, N., . . . Cannon, W.
(2014). Diabetes self-management education improves quality of care and clinical outcomes determined by a diabetes bundle measure. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*. doi:10.2147/JMDH.S69000

Bullard, K. M., Cowie, C. C., Lessem, S. E., Saydah, S. H., Menke, A., Geiss, L. S., . . .
Imperatore, G. (2016). Prevalence of diagnosed diabetes in adults by diabetes type
the United States, 2016. MMWR-morbidity and mortality weekly report, 67(12),
359–361. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/

Byers, D., Garth, K., Manley, D., & Chlebowy, D. O. (2016). Facilitators and Barriers to Type 2 Diabetes Self-Management Among Rural African American Adults. *Journal of Health Disparities Research & Practice*, 9(1), 164-174. doi:10.1177/0145721710385579

- Caruana, E. J., Roman, M., Hernández-Sánchez, J., & Solli, P. (2015). Longitudinal studies. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 7(11), E537–E540.
 doi:10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.10.63
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017a). Economic Studies. Vision Health Initiative (VHI). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017b). National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov
- Chawla, A., Chawla, R., & Jaggi, S. (2016). Microvascular and macrovascular complications in diabetes mellitus: Distinct or continuum? *Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 20(4), 546-51. doi:10.4103/2230-8210.183480

Chen, R., Cheadle, A., Johnson, D., & Duran, B. (2014). US trends in Receipt of
Appropriate Diabetes Clinical and Self-care From 2001 to 2010 and Racial/Ethnic
Disparities in Care. *Diabetes Educator*, 40(6), 756–766.
doi:10.1177/0145721714546721

- Chew, E. Y., Davis, M. D., Danis, R. P., Lovato, J. F., Perdue, L. H., Greven, C., ...
 Ambrosius, W. T. (2014). The Effects of Medical Management on the
 Progression of Diabetic Retinopathy in Persons with Type 2 Diabetes: The
 ACCORD Eye Study. *Ophthalmology*, 121(12), 2443–2451.
 doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2014.07.019
- Chou, C., Zhang, X., Barker, L. E., Bullard, K. M., Crews, J. E., Saaddine, J. B., ...
 Sherrod, C. E. (2014). Barriers to Eye Care Among People Aged 40 Years and
 Older with Diagnosed Diabetes, 2006-2010. *Diabetes Care, 37(1),* 180-188.
 doi:10.2337/dc13-1507
- Columb, M. O., & Atkinson, M. S. (2016). Statistical analysis: sample size and power estimations. *British Journal of Anesthesia*, 16(5), 159. doi: 10.1093/bjaed/mkv034
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Methods Approaches* (4th ed., 29-31) CA: Thousand Oaks. SAGE.
- Curtis, E. A., Comiskey, C., & Dempsey, O. (2016). Importance and use of correlational research. *Nurse Researcher*, (6), 20. doi:10.7748/nr.2016.e1382
- Das, R., Kerr, R., Chakravarthy, U., Hogg, R. E (2015). Dyslipidemia and Diabetic Macular Edema: a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis.
 Ophthalmology;122:1820–7. doi:10.1016/j.ophtha.2015.05.011
- Dirani, M., Crowston, J. G., vanWijngaarden, P. (2014). Physical inactivity as a risk factor for diabetic retinopathy? A review. *Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology*. 42, 574–581. doi:10.1111/ceo.12306
- Do, D. V., Wang, X., Vedula, S. S., Marrone, M., Sleilati, G., Hawkins, B. S., ... Frank,

R. N. (2015). Blood pressure control for diabetic retinopathy. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 1, CD006127.
doi:10.1002/14651858.CD006127.pub2

- Duh, E. J., Sun, J. K., & Stitt, A. W. (2017). Diabetic retinopathy: current understanding, mechanisms, and treatment strategies. *JCI insight*, 2(14), e93751. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.93751
- Emoto, N., Okajima, F., Sugihara, H., & Goto, R. (2016). A socioeconomic and behavioral survey of patients with difficult-to-control Type 2 diabetes mellitus reveals an association between diabetic retinopathy and educational attainment. *Patient preference and adherence*, 10, 2151–2162. doi:10.2147/PPA.S116198
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G* Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149-1160. doi:10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Fiscella, K. & Sanders, M. R. (2016). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Quality of Health Care. *Annual Review of Public Health*. 37:375–94. doi:10.1146/annurevpublhealth-032315-021439
- Funakoshi, M., Azami, Y., Matsumoto, H., Ikota, A., Ito, K., Okimoto, H., ... Miura, J. (2017). Socioeconomic status and Type 2 diabetes complications among young adult patients in Japan. *PLOS ONE*, 12(4):e0176087.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0176087

Garber, A. J., Abrahamson, M. J., Barzilay, J. I., Blonde, L., Bloomgarden, Z. T., Bush,M. A., ... Umpierrez, G. E. (2017). Consensus Statement by the American

Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology on the Comprehensive Type 2 Diabetes Management Algorithm - 2017 Executive Summary. *Endocrine Practice, 23(2),* 207–238. doi:10.4158/EP161682.CS

Gaskin, D. J., Thorpe, R. J., McGinty, E. E., Bower, K., Rohde, C., Young, J. H., ...
Dubay, L. (2014). Disparities in Diabetes: The Nexus of Race, Poverty, and Place. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(11), 2147–2155.
doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301420

- Gehlert, S., Sohmer, D., Sacks, T., Mininger, C., McClintock, M., & Olopade, O. (2008).
 Targeting health disparities: A model linking upstream determinants to downstream interventions. *Health Affairs*, 27(2), 339–349.
 doi:10.1377/hlthaff.27.2.339
- Goyal, M., Kamboj, P., Behgal, J., Rathee, S., & Lather, T. (2017). Risk factors of Diabetic Retinopathy in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Management*, 7, 6. Retrieved from https://www.openaccessjournals.com/
- Hammes, H.-P., Welp, R., Kempe, H.-P., Wagner, C., Siegel, E., Holl, R. W. (2015).
 Risk Factors for Retinopathy and DME in Type 2 Diabetes-Results from the German/Austrian DPV Database. *PLOS ONE*, 10(7): e013249.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132492

Harper, C. R., Steiner, R. J., & Brookmeyer, K. A. (2018). Using the Social-Ecological Model to Improve Access to Care for Adolescents and Young Adults. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 62(6), 641–642. Doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.03.010

HealthyPeople.gov. (2018). Access to Health Services. Retrieved from

https://www.healthypeople.gov

- Hipwell, A. E., Sturt, J., Lindenmeyer, A., Stratton, I., Gadsby, R., O'Hare, P., ...
 Scanlon, P. H. (2014). Attitudes, Access, and Anguish: a qualitative interview study of staff and patients' experiences of diabetic retinopathy screening. *BMJ Open*, 4(12):e005498. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2014-005498
- Hu, R., Shi, L., Liang, H., Haile, G. P., & Lee, D. (2016). Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Primary Care Quality Among Type 2 Diabetes Patients, Medical Expenditure Panel Survey, 2012. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 13:160113. doi:10.5888/pcd13.160113.
- IBM. (2016). IBM Pairwise vs. Listwise deletion: What are They and When Should I Use Them? Retrieved from http://www-01.ibm.com

IBM. (n.d) IBM SPSS software. Retrieved from https://www.ibm.com.

- International Diabetes Federation. (n.d.). Diabetes eye health -A guide for health professionals. Retrieved from https://www.idf.org/
- Iwelunmor, J., Newsome, V., & Airhihenbuwa, C. O. (2014). Framing the impact of culture on health: a systematic review of the PEN-3 cultural model and its application in public health research and interventions. *Ethnicity & Health, 19(1),* 20-46. doi:10.1080/13557858.2013.857768
- Jani, P. D., Forbes, L., Choudhury, A., Preisser, J. S., Viera, A. J., & Garg, S. (2017). Evaluation of Diabetic Retinal Screening and Factors for Ophthalmology Referral in a Telemedicine Network. *JAMA Ophthalmology*, 135(7), 706–714. doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2017.1150

- Jeng, C.-J., Hsieh, Y.-T., Yang, C.-M., Yang, C.-H., Lin, C.-L., & Wang, I.-J. (2016). Diabetic Retinopathy in Patients with Diabetic Nephropathy: Development and Progression. *PLOS ONE* 11(8): e0161897. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0161897
- Junlin, Z., Yiting, W., Li, L., Rui, Z., Ruikun, G., Hanyu, L., ... Fang Liu. (2018).
 Diabetic retinopathy may predict the renal outcomes of patients with diabetic nephropathy. *Renal Failure*, 40:1, 243-251, doi:10.1080/0886022X.2018.1456453
- Kashim, R. M., Newton, P., & Ojo, O. (2018). Diabetic Retinopathy Screening: A Systematic Review on Patients' Non-Attendance. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(1), 157. doi:10.3390/ijerph15010157
- Katulanda, P., Ranasinghe, P., & Jayawardena, R. (2014). Prevalence of retinopathy among adults with self-reported diabetes mellitus: the Sri Lanka diabetes and Cardiovascular Study. *BMC ophthalmology*, 14, 100. doi:10.1186/1471-2415-14-100
- Keenum, Z., McGwin, G., Witherspoon, C. D., Haller, J. A., Clark, M. E., & Owsley, C. (2016). Patients' Adherence to Recommended Follow-up Eye Care After Diabetic Retinopathy Screening in a Publicly Funded County Clinic and Factors Associated with Follow-up Eye Care Use. *JAMA Ophthalmology*. 134(11):1221–1228. doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2016.3081
- Kim, S. H., Lee, S. Y., Kim, C. W., Suh, Y. J., Hong, S., Ahn, S. H. (2018). Impact of Socioeconomic Status on Health Behaviors, Metabolic Control, and Chronic Complications in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal*,

42(5), 380–393. doi:10.4093/dmj.2017.0102

- Klimek, P., Kautzky-Willer, A., Chmiel, A., Schiller-Frühwirth, I., & Thurner, S. (2015)
 Quantification of Diabetes Comorbidity Risks across Life Using Nation-Wide Big
 Claims Data. *PLOS Computational Biology* 11(4): e1004125.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004125
- Koo, B. K., & Moon, M. K. (2016). Are We in the Same Risk of Diabetes Mellitus?
 Gender- and Age-Specific Epidemiology of Diabetes in 2001 to 2014 in the
 Korean Population. *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal*, 40(3), 175-81.
 doi:10.4093/dmj.2016.40.3.175
- Kotlarsky, P., Bolotin, A., Dorfman, K., Knyazer, B., Lifshitz, T., & Levy, J. (2015).
 Link between retinopathy and nephropathy caused by complications of diabetes mellitus Type 2. *International Ophthalmology*, *35*(1), 59–66. doi:10.1007/s10792-014-0018-6
- Kwak, S. K., & Kim, J. H. (2017). Statistical Data Preparation: Management of Missing Values and Outliers. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, *70(4)*, 407–411. doi: 10.4097/kjae.2017.70.4.407
- Laiteerapong, N., Fairchild, P. C., Chou C. H., Chin, M. H., & Huang, E. S. (2015).
 Revisiting disparities in quality of care among US adults with diabetes in the era of individualized care, NHANES 2007–2010. *Medical Care 53*:25–31.
 doi:10.1097/MLR.00000000000255
- Lee, M. -K., Han, K. -D., Lee, J. -H., Sohn, S. -Y., Hong, O. -K., Jeong, J. -S., ... Kwon, H. -S. (2017). Normal-to-mildly increased albuminuria predicts the risk for

diabetic retinopathy in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *Scientific Reports*, 7:11757 doi:10.1038/s41598-017-11906-6

- Lee, R., Wong, T. Y., & Sabanayagam, C. (2015). Epidemiology of Diabetic
 Retinopathy, Diabetic Macular Edema and Related Vision Loss. *Eye and vision* 2, 17. doi:10.1186/s40662-015-0026-2
- Lee, Y. -H. (2018). Socioeconomic differences among community-dwelling diabetic adults screened for diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy: The 2015 Korean Community Health Survey. *PLoS ONE*, 13(1): e0191496.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0191496
- Li, Y. N., Nong, D. X., Wei, B., Feng, Q. M., & Luo, H. Y. (2016). The impact of predisposing, enabling, and need factors in utilization of health services among rural residents in Guangxi, China. *BMC Health Services Research*, 16(1), 592. doi:10.1186/s12913-016-1825-4 survey
- Lindenmeyer, A., Sturt, J. A., Hipwell, A., Stratton, I. M., Al-Athamneh, N., Gadsby, R.,
 ... Scanlon, P. H. (2015). Influence of primary care practices on patients' uptake
 of diabetic retinopathy screening: a qualitative case study. *British Journal of General Practice*, 64(625), E484–E492. doi:10.3399/bjgp14X680965
- Lin, P., Kent, D., Winn, A., Cohen, J., & Neumann, P. (2015). Multiple Chronic Conditions in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Prevalence and Consequences. *American Journal of Managed Care*, 21(1), E23-+. Retrieved from https://www.ajmc.com
- Li, Y., Liao, Y., Fan, A., Zhang, X., & Balluz, L., (2010). Asian American/Pacific Islander Paradox in Diabetic Retinopathy: Findings from The Behavioral Risk

Factor Surveillance System, 2006–2008. *Ethnicity & Disease*, Volume 20. Retrieved from http://mx1.ishib.org/

- Li, Y. N., Nong, D. X., Wei, B., Feng, Q. M., & Luo, H. Y. (2016). The impact of predisposing, enabling, and need factors in utilization of health services among rural residents in Guangxi, China. *BMC Health Services Research*, 16(1), 592. doi:10.1186/s12913-016-1825-4 survey
- Long, J. S. (1997). Regression Models for Categorical and Limited Dependent Variables. Advanced Quantitative Techniques in the Social Sciences. Thousand Oaks. SAGE
- Luo, H., Bell, R. A., Garg, S., Cummings, D. M., Patil, S. P., & Jones, K. (2019). Trends and Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Diabetic Retinopathy Among Adults with Diagnosed Diabetes in North Carolina, 2000-2015. North Carolina Medical Journal, 80 (2), 76–82. doi:10.18043/ncm.80.2.76
- MacLennan, P. A., McGwin, G., Heckemeyer, C., Lolley, V. R., Hullett, S., Saaddine, J.,
 ... Owsley, C. (2014). Eye Care Utilization among a High-Risk Diabetic
 Population Seen in a Public Hospital's Clinics. *JAMA Ophthalmol*; 132(2): 162–167. doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2013.6046
- Magnan, E. M., Palta, M., Johnson, H. M., Bartels, C. M., Schumacher, J. R., & Smith,
 M. A. (2015). The impact of a patient's concordant and discordant chronic conditions on diabetes care quality measures. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications*, 29, 288–294. doi:10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2014.10.003
- Mansberger, S. L., Sheppler, C., Barker, G., Gardiner, S. K., Demirel, S., Wooten, K., ... Becker, T. M. (2015). Long-term Comparative Effectiveness of Telemedicine in

Providing Diabetic Retinopathy Screening Examinations: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Ophthalmology*, 133(5), 518-25. doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2015.1.

- Mariani, A. W., & Pego-Fernandes, P. M. (2014). Observational studies: why are they so important? *Sao Paulo Medical Journal*, 132(1), 1–2. doi:10.1590/1516-3180.2014.1321784
- Martinez-Mesa, J., Gonzalez-Chica, D. A., Duquia, R. P., Bonamigo, R. R., & Bastos, J. L. (2016). Sampling: how to select participants in my research study? *Anais Brasileiros De Dermatologia*. 91(3):326-330. doi:10.1590/abd1806-4841.20165254
- McDonald, J.H. (2014). *Handbook of Biological Statistics* (3rd ed pp 40-44). Maryland: Baltimore. Sparky House.
- Mendanha, D. B., Martins, A. M., Vilar, Mateus. M., & Nassaralla, J. J. (2016). Risk factors and incidence of diabetic retinopathy. *Revista Brasileira de Oftalmologia*, 75(6), 443-446. doi:10.5935/0034-7280.20160089
- Meterko, M., Restuccia, J. D., Stolzmann, K., Mohr, D., Brennan, C., Glasgow, J., ...
 Kaboli, P. (2017). Response Rates, Nonresponse Bias, and Data Quality: Results
 from a National Survey of Senior Healthcare Leaders, *Public Opinion Quarterly*.
 Issue 1, Pages 130–144. doi:10.1093/poq/nfu052
- Mohajan, H. K. (2017). Two Criteria for Good Measurements in Research: Validity and Reliability. *Annals of Spiru Haret University Economic Series*, Vol 17, Issue 4, 59-82 (2017), (4), 59. Retrieved from http://anale.spiruharet.ro

- Mozaffarian, D., Benjamin, E. J., Go, A. S., Arnett, D. K., Blaha, M. J., Cushman, M., ... Turner, M. B (2016). Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2016 Update A Report from rom the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 133: e38–e360 doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000350
- Nielsen, S. F., & Nordestgaard, B. G (2014). Statin use before diabetes diagnosis and risk of microvascular disease: a nationwide nested matched study. *Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*. 2014;2(11):894–900. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70173
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2017a). About the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2018). National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: Analytic Guidelines, 2011-2014 and 2015-2016. Retrieved from https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs
- National Center for Health Statistics. (n.d.). NHANES Questionnaires, Datasets, and Related Documentation. Retrieved from https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2017b). NHANES 2015-2016. Retrieved from https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2015). NHANES 2013-2014. Retrieved from https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2013). NHANES 2011-2012. Retrieved from https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2017f). NCHS Research ethics review board approval. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs

- Okur, M. E., Karantas, J. D., Siafaka, P. I. (2017). Diabetes Mellitus: A Review on Pathophysiology, Current Status of Oral Medications and Future Perspectives. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sciencia*. 55(1):61-82 doi:10.23893/1307-2080.APS.0555
- Omair A. (2014). Sample size estimation and sampling techniques for selecting a representative sample. *Journal of Health Specialties*. 2:142-7. doi:10.4103/1658-600X.142783
- Omair, A. (2015). Selecting the appropriate study design for your research: Descriptive study designs. *Journal of Health Specialties*. 3:153-6. doi:10.4103/1658-600X.159892
- Owsley, C., McGwin, G., Lee, D. J., Lam, B. L., Friedman, D. S., Gower, E. W., ... Saaddine, J. (2015). Diabetes eye screening in urban settings serving minority populations: detection of diabetic retinopathy and other ocular findings using telemedicine. *JAMA Ophthalmology*, 133(2), 174-81.

doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2014.4652

- Ozawa, G. Y., Bearse. B. A., & Adams, A. J. (2015) Male–Female Differences in Diabetic Retinopathy? *Current Eye Research*, 40:2, 234-246, doi:10.3109/02713683.2014.958500
- Pantalone, K. M., Hobbs, T. M., Wells, B. J., Kong, S. X., Kattan, M. W., Bouchard, J.,
 ... Zimmerman, R. S. (2015). Clinical characteristics, complications,
 comorbidities and treatment patterns among patients with Type 2 diabetes
 mellitus in a large integrated health system. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research & Care*, 3(1), e000093. doi:10.1136/bmjdrc-2015-000093

- Papavasileiou, E., Davoudi, S., Roohipoor, R., Cho, H., Kudrimoti, S., Hancock, H., . . . Sobrin, L. (2017). Association of serum lipid levels with retinal hard exudate area in African Americans with Type 2 Diabetes. *Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology*, 255(3), 509-517. doi:10.1007/s00417-016-3493-9
- Park, Y.-H., Shin, J. A., Han, J.-H., Park, Y.-M., & Yim, H. W. (2015). The Association between Chronic Kidney Disease and Diabetic Retinopathy: The Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2008-2010. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(4). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125338
- Peek, M. E., Ferguson, M. J., Roberson, T. P., & Chin, M. H. (2014). Putting Theory into Practice: A Case Study of Diabetes-Related Behavioral Change Interventions on Chicago's South Side. *Health Promotion Practice*, 15(2 0), 40S–50S. doi:10.1177/1524839914532292
- Penman, A., Hancockc, H., Papavasileioud, E., Jamese, M., Idowu, O., Richea, D.,
 ...Sobrin, L. (2015). Risk Factors for Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy in
 African Americans with Type 2 Diabetes. *Ophthalmic Epidemiology, 23(2)*, 88-93. doi:10.3109/09286586.2015.1119287
- Pituch, K. A & Stevens, J. B (2016). Applied Multivariate Statistics for the Social Sciences Analyses with SAS and IBM's SPSS. (6th ed.). New York. Routledge
- Piyasena, M. M., Murthy, G. V., Yip, J. L., Gilbert, C., Zuurmond, M., Peto, T., ... Kamalakannan, S. (2019). Systematic review on barriers and enablers for access to diabetic retinopathy screening services in different income settings. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(4), 1–29. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0198979

- Punthakee, Z., Goldenberg, R., & Katz, P. (2018). Definition, Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes, Prediabetes and Metabolic Syndrome. *Canadian Journal* of Diabetes, 42, S10–S15. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.10.003
- Ranganathan, P., Aggarwal, R., & Pramesh, C. (2015). Common pitfalls in statistical analysis: Odds versus risk. *Perspectives in Clinical Research*. 6:222-4. doi:10.4103/2229-3485.167092
- Ranganathan. P., Pramesh, C. S, Aggarwal, R. (2017). Common pitfalls in statistical analysis: Logistic regression. *Perspectives in Clinical Research*. doi:10.4103/picr.PICR_87_17
- Raum, P., Lamparter, J., Ponto, K. A., Peto, T., Hoehn, R., Schulz, A., Schneider, A.,
 Wild, P. S., Pfeiffer, N., ... Mirshahi, A. (2015). Prevalence and Cardio- vascular
 Associations of Diabetic Retinopathy and Maculopathy: Results from the
 Gutenberg Health Study. *PLoS One. 10(6): e0127188*.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127188
- Ribeiro, S. M, Lima., Morley, J. E., Malmstrom, T. K., & Miller, D. K. (2016). Fruit and vegetable intake and physical activity as predictors of disability risk factors in African American middle-aged individuals. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 20(9), 891-896.doi:10.1007/s12603-016-0780-4
- Romero-Aroca, P., Sagarra-Alamo, R., Pareja-Rios, A., & López, M. (2015). Importance of telemedicine in diabetes care: Relationships between family physicians and ophthalmologists. *World Journal of Diabetes*, 6(8), 1005–1008.
 doi:10.4239/wjd.v6.i8.1005

- Rosiek, A., Kornatowski, T., Frąckowiak-Maciejewska, N., Rosiek-Kryszewska, A.,
 Wyżgowski, P., & Leksowski, K. (2016). Health behaviors of patients diagnosed
 with Type 2 diabetes mellitus and their influence on the patients' satisfaction with
 life. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*, 12, 1783–1792.
 doi:10.2147/TCRM.S118014
- Salimi, Z., & Ferguson-Pell, M. W. (2017). Validity in Rehabilitation Research: Description and Classification. doi:10.5772/67389
- Salmerón, R., García, C. B., & García, J. (2018). Variance Inflation Factor and Condition Number in multiple linear regression. *Journal of Statistical Computation & Simulation*, 88(12), 2365–2384. doi:10.1080/00949655.2018.1463376
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology Series Module 3: Cross-sectional Studies. *Indian* Journal of Dermatology, 61(3), 261–264. doi:10.4103/0019-5154.182410
- Shah, A. (2016). Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy in the United States, 2011–2014.
 Value in Health, 19(3), A199. doi:10.1016/j.jval.2016.03.1323
- Shields, B. M., Peters, J. L., Cooper, C., Lowe, J., Knight, B. A., Powell, R. J., ...
 Hattersley, A. T. (2015). Can clinical features be used to differentiate Type 1
 from Type 2 diabetes? A systematic review of the literature. *BMJ Open*.
 doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009088
- Sindhumol, M. R., Gallo, M., & Scrinivasan, M. R. (2017). Performance Improvement of Dispersion Charts by Trimming and Winsorization. *Statistica & Applicazioni*, 15(2), 121–132. doi:10.26350/999999_000006

Skaggs, J. B., Zhang, X., Olson, D. J., Garg, S., & Davis, R. M. (2017). Screening for

Diabetic Retinopathy: Strategies for Improving Patient Follow-up. *North Carolina Medical Journal*, 78(2), 121–123. doi:10.18043/ncm.78.2.121

- Skyler, J. S., Bakris, G. L., Bonifacio, E., Darsow, T., Eckel, R. H., Groop, L., ...
 Ratner, R. E. (2017). Differentiation of Diabetes by Pathophysiology, Natural History, and Prognosis. *Diabetes*, 66(2), 241–255. doi:10.2337/db16-0806
- Soderlund, P. D. (2017). The social ecological model and physical activity interventions for Hispanic women with Type 2 diabetes: A review. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 28(3), 306-314. doi:10.1177/1043659616649671
- Sohn, M.-W., Kang, H., Park, J. S., Yates, P., McCall, A., Stukenborg, G., ... Lobo, J. M. (2016). Disparities in recommended preventive care usage among persons living with diabetes in the Appalachian region. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research & Care*, 4(1), e000284. doi:10.1136/bmjdrc-2016-000284
- Song, Y., Zhao, J., Liu, X., Yang, T., Zhu, X., Zhao, B., & ... Yu, M. (2016). Increasing trend of diabetes combined with hypertension or hypercholesterolemia: NHANES data analysis 1999-2012. *Scientific Reports*, 6. 6:36093. doi:10.1038/srep36093
- Spears, E. C., Guidry, J. J., Harvey, I. S (2018). Measuring Type 2 diabetes mellitus knowledge and perceptions of risk in middle-class African Americans, *Health Education Research. Vol.33 no.1, Pages 55–6.* doi:10.1093/her/cyx073
- Spencer, D. L., McManus, M., Call, K. T., Turner, J., Harwood, C., White, P., ... Alarcon, G. (2017). Health Care Coverage and Access Among Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults, 2010-2016: Implications for Future Health Reforms. *Journal of Adolescent* Health, 62(6), 667–673.

doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.12.012

- Sperandei, S. (2014). Understanding logistic regression analysis. *Biochemia Medica*, 24(1), 12–18. doi:10.11613/BM.2014.003
- Spruill, I. J., Magwood, G. S., Nemeth, L. S., & Williams, T. H. (2015). African Americans' Culturally Specific Approaches to the Management of Diabetes. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*. 1–9. doi:10.1177/2333393614565183
- Strutton, R., Du Chemin, A., Stratton, I. M., & Forster, A. S. (2016). System-level and patient-level explanations for non-attendance at diabetic retinopathy screening in Sutton and Merton (London, UK): a qualitative analysis of a service evaluation. *BMJ open*, 6(5), e010952. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010952.
- Swierad, E. M., Vartanian, L. R., & King, M. (2017). The Influence of Ethnic and Mainstream Cultures on African Americans' Health Behaviors: A Qualitative Study. *Behavioral Sciences (2076-328X)*, 7(3), bs7030049. doi:10.3390/bs7030049
- Tao, X., Li, J., Zhu, X., Zhao, B., Sun, J., Ji, L.... Jiang, C. (2016). Association between socioeconomic status and metabolic control and diabetes complications: a crosssectional nationwide study in Chinese adults with Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Cardiovascular diabetology*, 15, 61. doi:10.1186/s12933-016-0376-7
- Taylor, S., & Distelberg, B. (2016). Predicting Behavioral Health Outcomes Among Low-Income Families: Testing a Socioecological Model of Family Resilience Determinants. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 25(9), 2797-2807. doi:10.1007/s10826-016-0440-7

- Thornton, R. L., Glover, C. M., Cené, C. W., Glik, D. C., Henderson, J. A., & Williams,
 D. R. (2016). Evaluating Strategies for Reducing Health Disparities by
 Addressing the Social Determinants of Health. *Health affairs*, 35(8), 1416–1423.
 doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1357
- Tung, E. L., Baig, A. A., Huang, E. S., Laiteerapong, N., & Chua, K. P. (2016). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Diabetes Screening Between Asian Americans and Other Adults: BRFSS 2012-2014. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 32(4), 423-429. doi:10.1007/s11606-016-3913-x
- US Department of Agriculture, US Department of Health and Human Services. (2015). Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2015-2020. 8th Edition. Retrieved from https://health.gov
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services/Office for Human Research Protections. (2016). 45 CFR 46. Pre-2018 Requirements – PDF. Retrieved from https://www.govinfo.gov
- U.S. National Library of Medicine (NIH). (2018). Cholesterol Levels: What You Need to Know. Retrieved from https://medlineplus.gov
- Varma, R., Bressler, N. M., Doan, Q. V., Gleeson, M., Danese, M., Bower, J. K., ... Turpcu, A. (2014). Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Diabetic Macular Edema in the United States. *JAMA Ophthalmology*, 132(11), 1334–1340. doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2014.2854
- Walraven, I., Mast, M. R., Hoekstra, T., Jansen, A. P, Rauh, S. P., Rutters, F. R., ... Nijpels, G. (2015). Real-world evidence of suboptimal blood pressure control in

patients with Type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Hypertension*. *33(10):2091-8*. doi:10.1097/HJH.00000000000680.

- Wang, B., Wang, F., Zhang, Y., Zhao, S–H., Zhao, W–J., Yan, S–L. ... Wang, Y–G.
 (2015). Effects of RAS inhibitors on diabetic retinopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70256-6
- Wat, N., Wong, R., & Wong, I. Y. (2016). Associations between diabetic retinopathy and systemic risk factors. *Hong Kong Medical Journal*, *22*(6), 589–599.
 doi:10.12809/hkmj164869
- White, M., Addison, C., Jenkins, B. C., Henderson, F., McGill, D., Payton, M., ... Antoine-LaVigne, D. (2017). Factors Affecting Dietary Practices in a Mississippi African American Community. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 14(7), 718; doi:10.3390/ijerph14070718
- Willis, J. R., Doan, Q. V., Gleeson, M., Haskova, Z., Ramulu, P., Morse, L., ... Cantrell,
 R. A. (2017). Vision-Related Functional Burden of Diabetic Retinopathy Across
 Severity Levels in the United States. *JAMA Ophthalmology*, 135(9), 926–932.
 doi:10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2017.2553

World Health Organization. (2018). About diabetes. Retrieved from https://www.who.int

- World Health Organization. (2016). Social Determinants of Health. 2016. Retrieved from http://www.who.int
- Xu, G., Liu, B., Sun, Y., Du, Y., Snetselaar, L. G., Hu, F. B., & Bao, W. (2018). Prevalence of diagnosed Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes among US adults in 2016

and 2017: population-based study. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 362, k1497. doi:10.1136/bmj.k1497

- Yan, F., Li, Y., Qin, G., Mayberry, R., & Daniels, P. (2018). Trends of Preventive Healthcare Utilizations in The Type 2 Diabetes in Asian-Americans versus Whites using Behavioral Risk Factors Surveillance System 2002-2013 Data. *Diabetes Management*. Retrieved from https://www.openaccessjournals.com
- Young, L. A., Buse, J. B., Weaver, M. A., Vu, M. B., Mitchell, C. M., Blakeney, T., ...
 Donahue, K. E. (2017). Glucose Self-monitoring in Non–Insulin-Treated Patients
 with Type 2 Diabetes in Primary Care Settings: A Randomized Trial. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 177(7), 920–929. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.1233
- Yu, L., Serpos, L., Genter, P., Mehranbod, C., Campa, D., Ipp, E. (2015). Disparities in Diabetic Retinopathy Screening Rates Within Minority Populations: Differences in Reported Screening Rates Among African American and Hispanic Patients. *Diabetes Care*. 2015; dc152198. doi:10.2337/dc15-2198
- Yu, D., Sonderman, J., Buchowski, M. S., McLaughlin, J. K., Shu, X., Steinwandel, M.,
 ... Zheng, W. (2015). Healthy Eating and Risks of Total and Cause-Specific Death among Low-Income Populations of African Americans and Other Adults in the Southeastern United States: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Plos Medicine*, 12(5): e1001830. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001830
- Yun, J. S., Lim, T. S., Cha, S. A., Ahn, Y. B., Song, K. H., Choi, J. A., ... Ko, S. H.
 (2016). Clinical Course and Risk Factors of Diabetic Retinopathy in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Korea. *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal*, 40(6), 482-

493. doi:10.4093/dmj.2016.40.6.482

- Zhang, X., Saaddine, J. B., Chou, C.-F., Cotch, M. F., Cheng, Y. J., Geiss, L. S., ...
 Klein, R. (2010). Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy in the United States, 2005–2008. *JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 304(6), 649–656. doi:10.1001/jama.2010.1111
- Zhang, J., Wang, Y., Li, L., Zhang, R., Guo, R., Li, H., ... Liu, F. (2018). Diabetic retinopathy may predict the renal outcomes of patients with diabetic nephropathy. *Renal failure*, 40(1), 243–251. doi:10.1080/0886022X.2018.1456453
- Zhuo, X., Zhang, P., Barker, L., Albright, A., Thompson, T. J., & Gregg, E. (2014). The lifetime cost of diabetes and its implications for diabetes prevention. *Diabetes Care*, 37(9), 2557–2564. doi:10.2337/dc13-2484